

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Role Strain and the Mental Health of College-Educated African American Women

Andrea Alston-Brundage Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the African American Studies Commons, Behavioral Neurobiology Commons, and the Women's Studies Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Andrea Alston-Brundage

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Melody Moore, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Brian Ragsdale, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Delinda Mercer, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Role Strain and the Mental Health of College-Educated African American Women

by

Andrea Alston-Brundage

MA, Rowan University, 2001

BA, Rutgers University, 1985

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Clinical Psychology

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

Women occupy many roles today, including wife, partner, parent, student, employee, and caregiver. This study addressed the effects of multiple roles on degreed African American women. The specific purpose was to assess the relationships between the marital and parental roles and employment status of college-educated African American women and assess mental health impacts as a result of role strain. The theoretical foundation for the study was Goode's role strain theory. The Working Women's Role Strain Inventory, Patient Health Questionnaire-9, and General Anxiety Disorder-7 were administered to 82 women participants between the ages of 22 and 61 who were involved in at least three roles. The convenience sample included women from local sororities, various religious communities, and referrals from participants. A correlational analysis revealed there was no significant association between role strain and marital status, and role strain and employment status. There was a positive correlation between role strain and single nonparent status. There was a significant relationship between depression and overall role strain and a significant relationship between anxiety and overall role strain. This study may contribute to positive social change by informing health care professionals and social services programmers about the impact of depression and anxiety on role strain among African American women. With this knowledge, professionals may become more culturally sensitive and competent when developing treatment plans for African American women.

Role Strain and the Mental Health of College-Educated African American Women

by

Andrea Alston-Brundage

MA, Rowan University, 2001

BA, Rutgers University, 1985

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Clinical Psychology

Walden University

August 2023

Acknowledgments

I can do all things through Christ which strengthens me. *Philippians 4:13 KJV* First, I thank God for giving me the strength and perseverance to complete this process. I have held this scripture close since my mother sent it, as a message of encouragement, during my freshman year in college. It has proven to be true. Secondly, I thank my parents Joseph (deceased) and Edith Alston, who prayed for me daily. We had plenty of challenges over the years while I was on this journey. Their support never wavered. My dad passed away in 2020 so he was not able to see the final product, but he is here in my heart and inspires me daily. My daughter, Adianna, motivated me by asking "How's it going?" and using her chef skills to cook a great celebratory dinner after my oral defense. I appreciate the members of my committee, Dr. Melody Moore-Chairperson, who had the ability to keep me on point and Dr. Brian Ragsdale shared his statistical acumen and genuine sincerity, which kept me moving forward. I am extremely grateful for their direction and contributions to enhance my dissertation. It was a blessing to have been placed in their path. They allowed me to share the invaluable research of African American women and their mental health. This dissertation would not have been possible without the support of everyone mentioned.

I am a product of all my ancestors, past and present. I thank them all for what has been poured into me.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background
Multiple Roles
Marital Status3
Parental Status
Employment Status
Depression4
Anxiety5
Education5
Racism6
Gap in the Research6
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Theoretical Foundation10
Nature of the Study11
Definitions
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations

Significance	14
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
Introduction	16
Literature Search Strategy	16
Theoretical Foundation	17
Women's Experience From the Perspective of Role Strain Theory	18
Literature on Women's Multiple Roles	21
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	24
Parental Status	24
Marital Status	27
Employment Status	30
Long Work Hours	33
Education	33
Racism	34
Anxiety	34
Depression	35
Summary and Conclusions	38
Chapter 3: Research Method	42
Introduction	42
Research Design and Rationale	43
Methodology	45

Population	45
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	45
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	47
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	47
Data Analysis Plan	51
Threats to Validity	52
External Validity	52
Internal Validity	53
Ethical Procedures	53
Summary	54
Chapter 4: Results	55
Introduction	55
Data Collection	56
Demographics	57
Data Analysis	62
Results	66
Research Question 1	66
Research Question 2	71
Research Question 3	76
Summary	83
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	86
Introduction	86

Interpretation of the Findings	87
Limitations of the Study	92
Recommendations	93
Implications	92
Conclusion	95
References	97
Appendix A: Introduction Letter	125
Appendix B: Demographic Survey	127

List of Tables

Table 1 Frequencies and Percentages for Categorical Study Variable.	s59
Table 2 Means and Standard Deviations for Continuous Study Variab	les62
Table 3 Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inv	entory (WRSI) by
Marital Status	67
Table 4 Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations of Number of Child	ren with Woman's
Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)	68
Table 5 Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inv	entory (WRSI) by
Parental Status	69
Table 6 Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inv	entory (WRSI) by
Employment Status	71
Table 7 Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations for Depression (PH)	[Q-9 Scale) with
Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)	73
Table 8 Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inv	entory (WRSI) by
Depression (PHQ-9 Categorical Levels)	75
Table 9 Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations for General Anxiety	v (GAD-7 Scale)
with Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)	77
Table 10 Pearson Correlations between Independent Variables and D)ependent
Variables	78
Table 11 Multivariate Analysis of Variance of Women's Role Stress In	wentory Subscales
by Independent Variables	80

Table 12 Mi	ultivariate Analysis o	of Variance of	Women's R	ole Stress In	ventory, Anxiety,	
and Dep	oression Scales by In	dependent Va	riables		82	

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Women are taking on more roles in contemporary society. Many African American women, however, have occupied roles of mother, spouse, and employee for decades. The stress of the roles may possibly result in role strain. Role strain has been defined as difficulty in fulfilling obligations when one does not achieve the desired goal (Gordon et al., 2012). Women may have incompatible expectations as they manage career, housework, and care for children (Lee et al., 2004). I conducted this study to investigate the choices that African American women can make appropriate choices in their daily lives to reduce role strain to maintain positive mental health.

This study may contribute to positive social change by providing information to programs, organizations, and health care professionals that engage with African American women. The findings may assist professionals who treat African American women in understanding that this population is multifaceted and, as such, may benefit from additional factors (such as viewing systemic racism and discrimination as a stressor) being considered during treatment. The findings may also be useful to African American women in identifying the benefits and/or disadvantages of the roles in their lives. This chapter contains information on the study, including the following: background of the study, problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions (RQs) and hypotheses, theoretical foundation, nature of the study, definition of terms, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, significance, and summary.

Background

In contemporary society African American women have maintained the numerous roles of wife, partner, parent, employee, student and caregiver. Managing multiple roles such as home and work tasks can be stressful and difficult. African American women who encounter systemic discrimination regularly may encounter additional emotional and physical stress (Stein, 2005). African American women have encountered biases from health care professionals when it comes to diagnoses and treatment (Antai-Otong,2002). The women involved in this study were asked questions that identified the level of role strain, depression and anxiety. Information about their role strain was examined.

Multiple Roles

More women are entering the workforce and have to cope with the demands of being a wage earner, wife, and mother (Dibaji et al., 2016; Rao et al., 2003). Some experts are concerned that a woman's participation in multiple roles is detrimental to their mental health (Dibaji et al., 2016; Rao et al., 2003). Depression and anxiety have been identified as possible adverse factors as women experience increased demands on their time and lives (Ahmadifiraz et al., 2013; Hochwater, 2001). Competing role demands have been documented as causing role overload and subsequent stress (Carr, 2013; McBride, 1990). According to Williams (2008) African American women often put their own needs aside to tend to the needs of employers, children, spouse, and family, which contributes to negative mental health.

Marital Status

Marriage has been identified as a potential major stressor for women (Stuart, 1981). Over the last few decades, marital norms have changed in the United States. The role of the typical homemaking mother and wife has changed to that of a wage-earning member of a dual earning couple (Lee et al., 2014). More women are in the workforce and trying to balance the roles as wife, mother, and employee. According to Campos (2013), women are more vulnerable to conflicting roles in their marriages than men. They may experience feelings of role conflict in their daily lives (Lee et al., 2009). Role strain has been found to be related to symptoms of depression and anxiety in married women (Pearlin et al.,1981). Even though married women are employed full-time they are more likely to maintain the responsibilities of the domestic chores.

Parental Status

According to Bayat et al. (2022) and Woods-Giscombe (2010), educated African American mothers maintain multiple roles for their children. Woods-Giscombe noted that African American women are adamant that their children will not experience a life of poverty, so they work hard, often in jobs they do not like, to make sure their children have stability and happiness. They encourage their children to excel in everything they do (Woods-Giscombe, 2010).

Employment Status

African American women have participated in multiple roles since before 1965 (Landry, 2000). Working outside the home for many African American women was not an option but a necessity for economic reasons. Having multiple roles is not without risk.

Perrewe and Coverman (1989) stated that work-family overload leads to psychological overload. According to Hochschild (1989), married working women often participate in activities that constitute a second shift in the workday. The first shift is traditional employment outside the home, and the second shift consists of the duties many working women have once they get home (i.e., laundering, shopping, cooking, and cleaning). The second shift may also include chauffeuring and checking homework of children.

According to Kostiainen et al. (2004), the more a husband participate in household responsibilities the better a wife's mental health. Having a good relationship improves psychological well-being (Kostiainen, 2004). Managing employment outside the home often assists African American women in living a middle-class lifestyle and having more balance of power in their relationships (Landry, 2000). Negotiating their multiple roles, therefore, is important to African American from an economic and an interpersonal perspective.

Depression

According to Watson and Hunter (2015), many African American women exhibit symptoms of depression. However, African American women often do not use mental health services to maintain a façade of strength or to avoid sharing information outside the home because they view it as prohibited. By avoiding mental health services. African American women may not be psychologically open to aesthetic experiences; they may persist with what is routine and familiar to them. Low psychological openness may increase symptoms of depression and anxiety (Watson & Hunter, 2015). Moreover, African American women may also feel distress due to feelings of obligation to be strong

(Woods-Giscombe, 2010). They may have a destructive belief that they can handle everything in their life (Williams, 2008). Often, women overall put their own needs aside and instead tend to the needs of others resulting in strain.

Anxiety

According to Watson and Hunter (2015), African Americans endure somatic (e.g., frequent headaches) symptoms more than mood symptoms (e.g., crying spells) (Ablin et al., 2013). The authors noted that African American women's reporting of somatic symptoms may be consistent with hiding emotional distress, which may be related to increased anxiety. Panic attacks are the most prevalent forms of anxiety experienced by African American women (Ashley, 2014). According to Neal-Barnett (2011), the number of African American women who experience a first panic attack is at least 100,000 (p. 214). Neal-Barnett also noted that the same qualities that make African American professional women strong also make them anxious.

Education

African American women have earned two-thirds of all bachelor's degrees earned by African Americans (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020) (United States Department of Education, 2019). According to Lee et al. (2004), women with higher levels of education report less depression than those with lower education levels. Education level is related to life satisfaction, and the lack of life satisfaction has a positive relationship with depression (Lee et al., 2004). According to Thomas et al. (2008), African American women have been found to experience higher psychological distress and negative emotions regularly compared to European American women. Racial

discrimination and feelings of powerlessness contribute to those feelings. African American women are at a higher risk of internalizing feelings of powerlessness, which may result in health problems such as depression and stress (Ashley, 2014).

Racism

Racism influences the psychological well-being of African American women, Watson and Hunter (2015) noted. Close to half (43%) of African American women reported experiencing verbal and emotional abuse, with racial undertones, at some point in their lives (Carter et al, 2016). African American women have been exposed to daily abuse (e.g., microaggressions or being overlooked due to race). The lack of control and worry has been associated with perceived racial discrimination in daily life and associated with anxiety. Many middle-class employed African American women do not feel that they deserve to be in the spaces they are in and struggle with the pressure to out perform their colleagues just to gain acceptance (Watson & Hunter (2015).

Gap in the Research

Research on issues affecting African American women and with African American women as participants is limited (Brown Speights, 2017, p. 1). Although research exists relating to women in multiple roles, very limited information is available pertaining to college-educated African American women and multiple roles (Curenton et al., 2018; Ray & Jackson, 2013). There is even less research available on educated African American women who are in the workforce and involved in multiple roles (Woods-Giscombe, 2015). The impact of multiple roles and stressors may be imperceptible to many researchers and health professionals, which may be why studies

are limited. In this study, I examined the relationship between multiple roles and different statuses (marital status, parental status, and employment) of college-educated African American women and the influence on their mental health as a result of role strain.

Problem Statement

African American women are 20% more likely than the general U.S. population to experience serious mental health problems (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2017). Among African American women who do seek mental health treatment, feelings of stress and overwhelmed due to multiple roles are common complaints (Woods-Giscombe, 2010, p. 678). Donavan and West (2015) noted an association between the culturally embedded behaviors of "self-silencing" and depression and anxiety in African American women. Balancing work outside the home and maintain their responsibilities in the home may place additional pressure on their capacity to maintain those roles, and they may encounter emotional strain (Sumra & Schillaci, 2015).

Although small amounts of stress may be benign, prolonged stress may cause physical as well as psychological risk factors (Sumra & Schillaci, 2015). African American women are more likely to report having common depressive symptoms of sadness, hopelessness, and worthlessness than European American women (Schiller et al., 2012). The increased rates of depression in women are twice that of men (Kessler, 2003). Anxiety disorders are prevalent among African Americans (Breslau et al., 2006). African American women continue to engage in multiple roles even though their psychological well-being may decrease as the demands of each role increases. The

rationale for this study was the need to determine whether having multiple roles is related to increased depression and anxiety in African American women. Research have increasingly focused on African American women and mental illness (Curenton et al., 2018; Ray & Jackson, 2013). However, few studies have specifically addressed educated African American women with multiple roles.

Purpose of the Study

Many African American women handle multiple responsibilities and support others while internalizing their emotions; this can lead to various psychological problems, including depression (Watson & Hunter, 2015). As Woods-Giscombe (2010, p. 679) noted, meeting societal expectations while controlling one's emotions may compromise African American women's well-being, especially in terms of depression and stress levels. African American women are socialized to accommodate the needs of others before themselves (Frame et al., 1999). They feel guilty when they participate in activities that promote self-development (Carrington, 2006). They take on multiple roles. The demands in their lives may lead to stress and depression (Stiver & Miller, 1998). In this study, I examined the relationship between multiple roles and depression and anxiety in African American women. The specific purpose was to assess the relationships between the marital and parental roles and employment status of college-educated African American women and assess mental health impacts as a result of role strain. The Working Women's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI), General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7), and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) were used to measure the study variables. In conducting this study, I sought to address a gap in the literature. Although

many studies have been conducted on women with multiple roles, there is limited recent research that is specifically focused on educated African American women (Neal-Barnett & Crowther, 2000; Martin et al., 2013).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

With more women in the workforce and little change in responsibilities in the home, there is a need to review how women are experiencing stress with competing claims on their time. I sought to answer three RQs in this investigation. The RQs addressed the relationship between the independent variables, which were marital status, parental status, and employment status, and the dependent variables, which were role strain, depression, and anxiety. The RQs and their corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: Do marital status, parental status, and employment have an influence on levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_01 : Marital status, parental status, and employment status are not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 1: Marital status, parental status, and employment status are associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ2: Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_02 : Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 2: Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ3: Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_03 : Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are not associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 3: Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation for this study was the role strain theory developed by Goode (1960). Goode identified multiple roles as problematic because of conflicting obligations and the need for good time management. Effectively managing multiple roles is hard and failure can lead to stress. The stress might be in one or more roles. According to Goode, when an individual is not able to meet their obligations or demands while participating in multiple roles, they may encounter role strain. The issue of role strain is pertinent for African American women, who have combined family and careers for decades (Woods-Giscombe, 2010).

The nature of African American women's multiple roles has varied over time. However, it has always involved adding more roles to the existing roles. Along with the traditional spouse, employee, and parental roles, social, political, and caregiving roles have potentially increased stress, anxiety, and depression in African American women (Roxburgh, 2004). Balancing multiple roles may have an adverse effect on the mental

health of African American women, especially those who are mothers. Time pressure and overload may have an impact on the psychological health of mothers with multiple roles, Roxburgh (2004) found. This topic will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 2. In this study, I explored the multiple roles of college-educated women and the relationship between these women's roles (i.e., marital status, parental status, and employment status) to see if their mental health is negatively affected, as would be expected per Good's theory.

Nature of the Study

This was a cross-sectional study relating to multiple roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status. I chose a cross-sectional design because I wanted to assess depression and anxiety in a defined population. Data was collected at a specific point in time and not over a period of time (Kesmodel, 2018). Using a cross-sectional design is a good way to determine the prevalence of multiple situations and outcomes at a single point in time (Sedgwick, 2014). Cross-sectional studies are generally quick and are often based on a questionnaire. The PHQ-9 was used to measure participants' level of depression and the GAD-7, participants' anxiety. I used the WRSI to identify the role with the greatest strain. Also, I collected demographic information, including educational level, marital status, parental status, and employment status. The participants were college-educated African American mothers between the ages of 22 and 61. The participants were employed and had children between the ages of 1 month and 18 years living with them. The data were retrieved from participants at one specific point in time. I performed correlational and regression analyses to analyze the survey data.

Definitions

Anxiety: A disorder that causes a person to become overwhelmed with panic, fear, or worry (American Psychiatric Association, 2000).

College educated: One who has attained at least a bachelor's degree from a college or university.

Depression: A mood disorder that causes persistent feelings of sadness (American Psychiatric Association, 2000).

Multiple roles: The roles a woman participates in (e.g., spouse, mother, student, caregiver, and volunteer). Each role has a pattern of expectations (Martire et al., 2000).

Psychological distress: A description for an individual who has a combination of depression, anxiety, and perceived stress (Ohayashi & Yamada, 2012).

Role conflict: A phenomenon that occurs when one has limited time and energy to perform simultaneous multiple roles, which leads to conflict (Kulik et al., 2016). The experience causes psychological distress and exhaustion (Kulik et al., 2016).

Role overload: A perception time-based form of role stress. It involves the perception of limited time available to fulfill the required roles (Duxbury et al., 2018).

Role strain: In women, the experience of stress associated with expected roles (Stuart, 1981). It may involve role conflict and role overload.

Assumptions

I assumed that participants would provide truthful responses to the questions in the surveys. I also assumed that participants would be truthful about their racial identities as it was imperative that they be African American. The study was specifically designed for women of African American descent who were involved in at least three roles.

Having participants who met the eligibility criteria was necessary to achieve accurate results

Scope and Delimitations

African American women are more likely to report increased prevalence rates of depression (Bronder et al.,2013). I used a convenience sample to assess whether societal roles were related to role strain in college-educated African American women. The surveys were of moderate length; participants were able to complete them in less than 1 hr. The respondents were African American women between 22 and 61 years of age who maintained multiple roles. I also asked about the following variables on the demographic survey: marital status, parental status, and employment status. Each participant had at least a 4-year college degree. The ability to generalize the results to the larger African American population of the United States is limited because of the use of a convenience sample. The participants were from a select group and did not represent the general population of educated African American women.

Limitations

This study has some limitations that stem with the use of a convenience sample. One is the inability to generalize the results of the survey to the population as a whole (Tsang, 2014). The second was the potential to under- or overrepresent the population. The participants were easily accessible as they were associated with groups and organizations I am affiliated with.

Significance

The mental health needs of African Americans have historically been underdiagnosed, misdiagnosed, and undertreated (Snowden & Pingitore, 2001). I conducted this study may help mental health professionals to become culturally sensitive when treating African American women. Greater cultural sensitivity could assist these professionals in helping their clients to build relationships, which could result in positive social change. It might also help African American women to identify benefits or disadvantages from the roles in their lives. I hope that the study assists women in making better decisions that would get them closer to better health and less anxiety and depression. It may also assist those in the medical field to relate better and have more empathy toward African American women who are experiencing depression and anxiety as a result of multiple roles. Ultimately, the study could provide insight that women may use to make better decisions and achieve a more balanced life. I hope to publish the results of the study and share them with professionals who engage with African American women to enhance cultural sensitivity and cultural competence in mental health treatment. Publishing the results in media that African American women read may be effective. Learning about the study findings may change their perceptions and possibly help them identify their limits to reduce anxiety and depression.

Summary

Women find themselves in many roles today: wife, parent or single parent, student, employee, and caregiver. Many women are returning to higher education in adulthood to change their present position in their work environment (Wyatt, 2011).

Attending college is stressful, however. Returning to college can add more stress due to changes in family relationships and monetary deficits. Women may be caregivers of parents while taking care of their own families. Women have extraordinarily busy lives. They have full schedules and must acknowledge the challenges of time and resources resulting from the multiple roles in which they are engaged. African American women also have to contend with racism (Carter et.al, 2016).

In this study, I assessed the relationship between multiple roles (marital status, parental status, employment status) of college-educated African American women and the influence on their mental health as a result of role strain. I focused on the roles and responsibilities of African American mothers 18 years or older and how the role strain they experienced is related to their psychological well-being. Women are more vulnerable to having depressed moods when home and career become more demanding and cause more stress (Stiver & Miller, 1998). African American women often face additional issues such as internalized racism, emotional isolation, and devaluation and yet continue to add more roles to their lives (Wiggins-Frame et al., 1999). The questions I attempted to answer in this study were if multiple roles are related to the psychological well-being of college-educated African American women or if the number of roles increases the existence of depression and anxiety among these women.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between multiple roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of college-educated African American women and their influence on mental health (depression and anxiety) as a result of role strain. This section contains the literature review, theoretical foundation (Goode, 1960), and the variables African American women participate in (parental status, marital status, employment status). In addition, the independent variables anxiety and depression were also discussed. There was a review of racism and how it effects the mental health of African American women. The summary and conclusion in the chapter discuss role strain and the negative and positive effects on mental health.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature review includes an overview of the following topic areas: historical background of African American women and role strain, role theory, developmental concerns for African American women, and other multiple role factors. I focused on a growing population of African American women with higher education who participate in multiple roles and how they may be positively or negatively affected. In regard to the historical background, women have progressed from the roles of wife and mother being primary to roles such as employee and community volunteer. Reviewing the various role theories along with the developmental issues for African American women provides a foundation by which the stressors of multiple roles may be understood.

I obtained the literature for this study from the Walden University Library using the APA PsycArticles, APA PsycInfo, and SocINDEX with Full Text databases. The articles consisted of scholarly peer-reviewed articles published as early as 1960 and as recently as 2022. The earlier articles discussed the foundation of multiple roles. The subjects searched included approximately 180 articles on role theory, multiple roles, African American working women, women and well-being, African American women and depression, roles, African American women and stress.

Theoretical Foundation

Goode (1960) introduced role strain theory by referring to social institutions as role relationships. The relationships can lead individuals into rational choices about role occupancy to make multiple roles manageable. People who participate in role combinations with limited time and energy are likely to experience stress and overload. The role strain theory asserts that multiple roles cause overload, stress, and role strain (Cochran et al., 1999). Role strain is the difficulty in fulfilling obligations when one does not achieve the desired goal (Gordon et al., 2012). There is a possibility that multiple roles will enhance one's life and well-being. This has been identified as role enhancement theory, which declares that the more social roles one has the more meaning a person finds (Cochran et al., 1999). According to Hong and Mallick-Seltzer (1995), the more roles women have the greater their ability to maintain a positive attitude.

The rationale for choosing role strain theory was to explore the possible reasons college-educated African American women experience depression and anxiety.

According to Goode (1960), role strain emphasizes the negative consequences that the

strain of engaging in multiple roles presents. Reid and Hardy (1999) found that when time and energy are limited, adapting to multiple roles may adversely affect mental well-being. Depression and anxiety may be associated with this theory as many African American women participate in multiple roles(Woods-Giscombe, 2015).

Women's Experience from the Perspective of Role Strain Theory

According to Waldron et al. (1998), role strain consists of incompatible obligations or expectations, which causes negative effects. Sharma (1999) stated that multiple roles may have negative effects that may encourage overindulgences such as overeating, smoking, and drinking. Multiple roles may also cause insomnia, feelings of nervousness, and loss of appetite, Sharma found. He also suggested that racial and ethnic tension in the workplace may cause anxiety, anger, irritability, and high blood pressure. Women with caregiving roles may have greater distress as they experience feelings of exhaustion due to multiple roles (Scott, 2006). There may be difficulty and inattentiveness as a result of mental and emotional spillover at work and home, due to caregiving roles.

Role strain occurs when persons have an increased number of roles leading to overload and strain (Goode, 1960). Role strain has been shown to negatively affect physical and psychological well-being (Goode, 1960; see also Adelman, 1994).

According to Ahrens and Ryff (2006), the large number of responsibilities women have may contribute to their level of stress. Role strain is seen as being a direct result of taking on a number of responsibilities and not being able to successfully balance them. The role

strain hypothesis highlights the harmful effects of women's roles resulting in role overload and role conflict (Waldron et al., 1998).

Role conflict occurs when the fulfillment of one role interferes with the fulfillment of the demands of another (Home, 1998). An example of role overload might be a married woman with a child who may perceive her roles as mother and wife as being separate roles, whereas another married woman may see her role as mother and wife as part of her family role. How the mother perceives the role and the emotional gratification she receives may determine the impact on the psychological well-being (Sellers et al., 2002; Sinha, 2017). Role overload and role conflict contribute to increased stress and strain on an individual's psychological resources. Excessive demands on time, energy, and psychological resources may result in conflict and poor health.

The meaning of roles may have an effect on women (Kulik et al., 2014; Simon, 1995). If the job a woman has provides economic support, the work itself may be beneficial. However, if work life prohibits a woman from engaging in socially desired roles, this may have a negative influence on the woman's well-being. Role strain and feelings of guilt often contribute to negative well-being (Simon, 1995). Role strain may have a harmful effect on the mental health of women (Cochran et al., 1999). Combining the role of employee and mother continues to be stressful for women, according to these authors. The emotional guilt surrounding children being left behind while women work often makes mothers feel that the time spent at work could have been spent with their children (Simon, 1995). In a study by Simon (1995), 75% of the women participants experienced work-parent conflicts. Women in the study felt that their jobs prevented

them from being with their children. They had feelings of inadequacy resulting in their inability to continuously make themselves available to their children or spouse. A mother with young children may increase time constraints, produce stress and diminish wellbeing, especially when children are younger (Thomas, et al., 2017).

Glynn et al. (2009) defined role overload as a person feeling overwhelmed by their total responsibilities. For women, role overload seems to be due to women's limited time and energy. According to Glynn et al., role overload has a strong association with mental health. Kasen et al. (2003) noted that women who are married and have young children seem to be more susceptible to stress while attempting to juggle multiple roles. Home (1996) described role strain as the difficulty in fulfilling obligations when people do not achieve the desired goals. As a result, stress can develop due to the woman feeling she may not be managing things well and is losing control. Home noted that occupying productive roles is beneficial; this is known as role enhancement.

Role involvement is the name given to another hypothesis, which states that each role has both harmful and beneficial effects (Waldron & Jacobs, 1989). Waldron and Jacobs (1989) discussed additional roles having benefits such as social contact, satisfaction, and self-esteem, which may contribute to better health and greater psychological well-being. Role involvement takes into consideration specific roles and the combination of roles. Waldron and Jacobs reviewed cross-sectional data which indicated that the relationship between women's roles and health varied depending on the roles held. They found a strong association between employment and good health for employed single women with positive attitudes toward their jobs. These women were the

healthiest among the groups of women that they studied. The degree the role serves as a means to define oneself effects the roles involvement (Martire et al., 2000)

Literature on Women's Multiple Roles

There is an assumption that engagement in multiple roles has an impact on the mental health of women (Ahrens & Ryff, 2006). A review of the literature on this subject, however, shows conflicting results. Gove and Tudor (1973) conducted a post-World War II study that suggested married women with multiple roles had a higher rate of mental illness than married men. They surveyed men and women after World War II examining how sex roles affected married men and women. Community studies of first admissions to mental hospitals between 1956 to 1966 were reviewed along with the care of outpatient clinics and private outpatient psychiatric care. Gove and Tudor (1973) attempted to identify mental illness occurrences in men and women. They found more women than men were identified as being mentally ill. From their studies, they concluded that adult women in modern industrial society were more likely to experience mental illness. Gove and Tudor (1973) attributed the difference to the characteristics of male and female roles in modern society. In more recent years, more women have occupied the roles of employee, partner, and mother. Some authors have suggested the multiple roles may place contradictory demands and expectations on women today (Kostiainen et al., 2009). The multiple role hypothesis states that when employed women fulfill the role obligations of employee at work and housekeeper at home, this may lead to role conflict and role overload, which in turn may result in tiredness, exhaustion, disease, and mortality (Barn & Mailick-Seltzer, 1995).

Although the multiple role hypothesis attributes the negative effects to a combination of marital, parental, and work roles, an alternate view, the role accumulation hypothesis argues the benefits of the roles outweigh the possible harmful effects of role strain (Martikainen, 1995). Proponents of this view believe women may gain better health and have lower mortality rates due to the increase in additional roles. Role accumulation is believed by them to lead to more supportive social ties outside the home. Women who participate in employment are believed to have higher self-esteem because they are able 9to contribute to the home economically (Martikainen, 1995; Rothbara, 2001).

Frone (2000) noted employed married women were found to have experienced more clinically significant health problems than single women employees. Stiver and Miller (1987) found married women were more prone to develop depression than married men and single women who are heads of households. Married women who were employed and fulfilled the role obligation of employee and housekeeper were often subjected to conflict and overload. The married woman was often confronted with conflicting expectations from her role partner and suffered strain from having to accept all of the expectations. The women found it difficult to fulfill the obligations attached to their roles, hence, the potential for stress (Martikainen, 1995).

According to Kasen et al. (2003), middle- aged women (ages 30-45) experienced a great deal of stress related to their responsibilities as parents and found this role more stressful than working outside the home. Gove and Hughes (1981) reported employed women may have better health and lower mortality after taking on more roles. Other results report the benefits of employment were greater for women with fewer

homemaking and childcare responsibilities (Kostiainen et al., 2009). According to Waldron et al. (1998), while providing income and financial independence from men, employment may also serve as an avenue for creating supportive social ties outside the home and marriage. Waldron et al. (1998) found women with better mental health were those who desired to work outside the home. The healthiest women who had the least anxiety and depression were the wives who were doing what they enjoyed (Campos, 2013; Repetti et al. 1989). Both Waldron et al. (1998) and Jacobs (1989) reported women benefited from being in the labor force if they were unmarried rather than married. Parallel to the role accumulation theory, Repetti et al. (1989) suggested employment outside the home offers an opportunity to increase social networks, which may result in better mental health.

Simon (1995) noted that women with numerous social roles experienced more depression. However, it was also stated married women were found to be less depressed than nonmarried women and employed women were less depressed than nonemployed women. Simon (1995) found inconsistent support for the role accumulation hypothesis studied by Gove and Tudor (1973). Dibaji, et al. (2017) and Simon (1995) found holding multiple roles is not always harmful nor beneficial for women. Simon mentioned findings by Kessler and McRae (1982) who found employment benefits women. Other studies showed no difference between the distress of employed wives and homemakers (Cleary & Mechanic, 1983). This contradiction emphasizes the importance of examining the characteristics of the roles and even looking at more than just the roles themselves; it is important to look at the division of household labor and the lower earnings for the wife

which may reduce her power in the marital relationship and affect depressive symptoms (Simon, 1995).

There has not been any definitive resolution to the ongoing dispute.

Unfortunately, there is not much research available specifically about the roles taken by African American women (Cochran et al., 1999). Several researchers (Adelman, 1994; Browman, 1991; Cochran et al., 1999) found employed African American women had significantly lower levels of family life satisfaction when they were compared to women who were not employed. Also, in this population, parents who were highly educated were reported to have lower levels of well-being than nonparents (Reskin & Coverman, 1985). In contrast, Repetti et al. (1989) noted that employment contributed to the well-being of African American working mothers who had children living in the home.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts

Many African American women may experience negative psychological stress (i.e., depression and anxiety) when filling the role of wife, parent, and employee (Woods-Giscombe, 2010). Individual and multiple roles can impact the mental health of women (Frech & Damaske, 2012).

Parental Status

Tweed and Jackson (1981) and Viertio (2021) noted married women's rates of psychological distress were higher than those of men. They found the housekeeping role and its association with raising children is often fou2nd to be unsatisfying and stressful. Having children could also increase financial difficulties. Gove and Lester (1974) supported the idea that marriage is beneficial. Gove and Geerkin (1977), stated children

have an adverse effect on parents' emotional health. Motherhood could contribute to either social isolation or it could improve social contact; it may also reduce risky behavior such as drinking or smoking (Waldron et al., 1998). Having very young children appeared to have more of an adverse effect on mothers than fathers (Gove et al., 1983). Mothers generally feel responsible for their children's success and happiness and are often blamed if something goes wrong in the lives of their children (Caplan & Hall-McCorquodale, 1985).

Outside employment may offer opportunities for fulfillment but can also be the culprit for additional stress thus ascribing to the role strain theory. Pavlova et al. (2015) and Waldron et al. (1998) noted being married had a beneficial effect for women who were not employed. Being married was associated with self-actualization and independence. On the other hand, the family provides closeness and a sense of psychological well-being for many women (Kostiainen et al., 2009). As a result of middle class African American mothers adopting the work-family integration model they see the role of mother and worker complementing each other (Dean, Marsh & Landry, 2013).

In spite of the obstacles, the majority of African American mothers manage to raise healthy and productive young men and women (Curenton et al. (2018); Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004). However, the years of anxiety and emotional challenges can influence women's emotional health (Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004). Mothers are forced to discuss discrimination with their children after they experienced the cruelty

firsthand (Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004). Educated African American mothers often question whether to shelter or to expose their children (Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004).

When they expose their children to the possibilities, the children's culture is questioned, and the mothers may find themselves disliked by their own culture and others in the majority (Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004). African American mothers want to spare their children from the pain that they themselves have probably experienced. Jones and Shorter-Gooden (2004) noted African American mothers often must work on improving self-esteem in their children. One way of improving their child's self-esteem is by battling the lily complex, which is the concept that the only way to be beautiful is to look like the majority (Jones & Shorter-Gooden 2004).

Jones and Shorter-Gooden (2004) and Ray et al. (2013) noted African American women are as likely, if not more likely, to encourage their children to achieve good grades, attend college, and graduate from college as are the mothers in other groups.

Dean et al. (2013) and Stevenson et al. (1990) noted that educated African American mothers see educational achievement and success as the only defense against racism and sexism. According to Jones and Shorter-Gooden (2004), educated African American parents who are doing well financially often bring up their children in environments that limit their exposure to other African Americans. In these settings, the African American mothers have to assist their children in maintaining their Blackness. The aforementioned roles of African American mothers may add undue stress causing additional strain.

The Current Population Survey 2019 found that approximately 23% of all U.S. families were headed by single parents (United States Census Bureau, 2021). Atkins

(2014) and Cairney et al. (2003) found single mothers suffer disproportionately higher rates of psychiatric illness compared to married women. According to Atkins (2014) and Cairney et al. (2003), single mothers were twice as likely to have suffered an episode of major depression than married mothers. The higher rates of depression in single mothers may be due to sole parenting responsibilities and greater exposure to stress (Cairney et al., 2003)

Marital Status

According to Campos (2013) and Waldron et al., 1998, marriage is beneficial to health since it generally contributes to increased social support and financial resources. Marriage may also reduce risky behavior such as excessive alcohol consumption. However, marital conflict may be harmful to the health and well-being of women. Women with similar roles as their husbands have been identified as having more anxiety, distress, somatic complaints, and depression than other women (Campos, 2013; Simon, 1995). Often, the husbands' modest contribution to housework and childcare has been the source of strain for the wife (Campos, 2013; Simon, 1995). Even though the wife works, she is usually responsible for the bulk of domestic chores and childcare. Women who tend to view work and family roles as independent are more likely to experience role conflict (Dibaji, 2017; Simon, 1995). Historically, men have had greater interdependence between work and family obligations than women. Women are more likely to be pigeonholed into socially defined roles at home and work (Littlefield, 2003).

In conventional society women have had limited acceptable outlets as compared to men. Women have generally been socialized to be cooperative, which may predispose

them to stress and frustration (Dibaji et al. 2017; Littlefield, 2003). Men's family roles involved economic support, whereas the wife's role was based on emotional support and nurturance (Curenton et al., 2018; Simon, 1995). Employed wives are more likely than their husbands to experience role conflicts or guilt because of the work-family combination. The work time demands of the job may be greater than the woman and her spouse would like (McBride, 1990; Xu et al., 2019). A woman may experience guilt due to conflicting expectations from her role-partner and experience strain as a result of not meeting his expectations or fulfilling obligations (Martikainen, 1995; Xu et al., 2019). This is closely related to role overload, which relates to constraints imposed by time. According to Escriba-Aguir and Tenias-Burillo (2004), women who performed 30 hours of domestic chores experienced a higher risk of having low vitality. According to their findings, such women who were under 45 years old had a higher risk of poor mental health and limited social function.

For many women, having a partner offers both physical and mental support (Kostiainen et al., 2009; Sinha, 2017). Having such support, security, and material advantages correlates with the presence of positive health benefits. Women who experienced good support from their partners were less likely to show negative mental health signs than those who had less support. According to both Gove et al. (1983), and Kostiainen et al. (2009), the quality of the relationship is more important than the fact of having a relationship itself. Moreover, it was found the good relationship improves psychological well-being, whereas a relationship that is not as good is comparable to not having a partner at all (Braithwaite & Holt Lunstad, 2017; Escriba-Aguir & Tenias-

Burillo, 2004; Kostiainen et al., 2009; Williams, 2008). Barnett et al. (1994) and Chen et al. (2015) noted the quality of the familial relationship may negatively affect the full time employed woman's employment experiences and result in psychological distress.

Single parent families have increased steadily since World War II (Cairney et al., 2003; Council, 2021). Most often, single parent families consist of mothers and their children. Single parenting is often a result of separation, divorce, widowhood, and having children out of marriage. Many single parent families experience significant social and economic disadvantages due to their circumstances. According to Cairney et al. (2003) and Ranning et al. (2016), single mothers suffer disproportionately higher rates of psychiatric illness compared to married women. Stressors such as poverty and soleparenting responsibilities have also been considered as factors for higher levels of stress (Cairney et al., 2003; Robinson, 2018). According to Waldron and Jacobs (1989), marriage did not appear to have beneficial effects on the health of African American women. Waldron and Jacobs (1989) noted possible reasons why African American women may benefit less from marriage than other women do; these included having low levels of emotional intimacy and marital satisfaction in their marriages. Financial and psychological support from a spouse could be important to the health of African American women who have children. However, if the support is not there it could be detrimental (Fan & Frisbie, 2009). A healthy marriage promotes financial, social and psychological well-being. African American couples are disproportionately faced with social stressors, which constrain relationship development (Kiecolt, & Fossett, 1995; Barr, 2015).

Midlife African American women are less likely to have a spouse due to the life expectancy of African American men being significantly lower than that of White men (Irby-Shasanmi, 2012; United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2010). During midlife, African American women may have fewer social roles but still maintain the role of caretaker, mother, and grandmother (Cochran et al., 1999; Windsor et al., 2016).

Employment Status

Previous studies (Aneshensel et al., 1986; Erdogan, 2021; Waldron & Herold, 1986) have indicated women employed outside the home typically had positive mental health if they have social support at work. Employment outside the home generally increased income and improved access to healthcare. It also enhanced self-esteem and a sense of having control (Repetti et al., 1989). Barnett et al. (1994) noted employed women with children reported lower psychological distress than did women without children. There is also research that showed no significant difference in mental health between women who worked outside the home or women who did not work at all (Repetti et al., 1989). Over involvement in one's career can result in strain on the marriage, especially if children are involved and the wife is taking on traditional roles in the home, leading to additional stress (Ollo-Lopez & Goni-Legaz, 2017; Skinner, 1980). No significant difference in mental health was noted in employed single and married women (Bayat, 2022; Repetti al., 1989). Repetti et al. (1989) noted the presence of positive mental health among employed women but negative well-being among women

with children. Waldron et al. (1998) noted time away from children and access to colleagues for social support could buffer the stress of childrening.

As a result of being subjected to racism and sexism throughout their lives, African American women often encounter emotional distress (Watson, 2015; Wiggins-Frame et al., 1999). Wiggins-Frame et al. (1999) noted African American women who attend graduate school and en3ter into professional employment feel cut off from their support. They tend to feel guilty for abandoning their families and friends. Many African American women acknowledge, despite their success, they feel diminished, devalued, and unappreciated. These issues may be a consequence of conflicts between their own needs and the needs of others (Watson, 2015; Wiggins-Frame et al., 1999).

Women who work long hours tend to have a greater chance of experiencing depression (Liang, 2019; Maclean et al., 2004). Women who work part-time in dual-earning families may not have the same commitment to their job and be less affected by the quality of their family role (Barnett et al., 1994; Erdogan, 2021). They have the ability to be in the office and make connections and relationships plus receive a salary to contribute to their family, yet they are still able to manage their responsibilities at home (Hamilton-Mason et al., 2009). If a woman finds her family role unsatisfactory, her source of gratification is somewhat limited (Sinha, 2017; Gove & Tudor, 1973). If the wife is employed outside the household and she is not herself fully responsible for the children and household, she could have less psychological distress than the women for whom all care of children is part of her family role (Barnett et al., 1994).

Employment was found to be beneficial for the health of African American women who had children living at home (Council, 2021; Repetti et al., 1989). They were found to be less depressed than non-employed African American women with the caveat that the contributions in the home by their husbands and their attitude toward employment have to be considered. Typically, employment outside the home seems to reduce the risk of depression for women who do not have a husband. Employment has been linked to more positive mental health for unmarried women than for married women. Employment appears to have a greater effect on women who have limited sources of income, social support, and self-esteem; for these women, employment may provide the best source of such feelings that are available to them (Repetti et al., 1989; Robinson, 2018).

Employment also has a beneficial effect on a woman's health if she has a positive attitude toward employment (Sinha, 2018; Waldron & Herold, 1986). Having supportive social relationships at work is related to improved mental health. According to Jackson (1992), Jackson et al. (1998), and Robinson (2018), single African American mothers who preferred employment to staying home experienced less role strain. Mothers who preferred employment were more satisfied with their lives but were no less depressed than mothers who preferred to stay home. Having the option to work may be the key. If economics is not a factor in the decision to work and the woman is not forced but prefers to work, having the option may be a distinguishing factor (Jackson, 1992). Education level, and the number of hours worked would also be important variables in the outcome (Jackson, 1992). Jackson (1992) also noted the more education African American

mothers had, the more positively they perceived their children. African American women with young children who did not have education beyond high school had an increased level of depressive symptomology and role strain (Jackson, 1992).

Long Work Hours

Insufficient time to meet obligations is a common complaint of many working women (Cooklin, 2016; Katz & Piotrkowski, 1983). According to Cooklin (2016) and Virtanen (2011) there is an association between long working hours and mental illness in women. The number of hours women work per week was found to be a significant predictor of work-family strain (Keith & Schafer 1980). According to Afonso et al (2017) long hours of work may adversely affect sleep. Poor sleep quality has been associated with anxiety and depression Afonso (2017).

Education

African Americans have placed a high value on education for generations (Winkle-Wagner, 2015). African American women are highly encouraged to attend college and graduate (Jones & Shorter-Gooden, 2004). Having a bachelor's degree increases employment and occupational opportunities (Rose, 2016). Wage gains were at a premium for women during the mid-20th century (Autor et al, 2008; Shambaugh et al., 2017). There was a dramatic increase of African American women enrolled in college during that time (Rose, 2016). According to Rose (2016), the greater education attainment the greater the implication for equal opportunities in America, which contributes to the belief by many Americans the greater educational attainment the more money earned, the higher the social status. Unfortunately, African American women

have not been able to maintain the same economic level as those of the majority partly because they are in a unique position historically marginalized in the larger society; being a woman and a person of color, which often leads to working more hours and harder to meet similar opportunities Winkle-Wagner, 2015).

Racism

African American women often maintain roles as custodians and have daily life stressors that all women face in addition to racism. The stresses of racism and the undervaluing of the impact of racism can increase negative outcomes (Curenton, 2018; Hamilton-Mason et al., 2009). The reluctance of Whites to admit the validity of Blacks' frustration about race contributes to emotional isolation. They may experience fear of being unmasked as inferior to their White counterparts and as a result experience low self-esteem (hooks, 1993). According to Carter et al. (2016) and Williams (1999), racism can directly affect health in multiple ways. The stress of discrimination and societal stigma of inferiority can have consequences on health.

Anxiety

According to Bandelow and Michaels (2022) and Kessler et al. (2004), anxiety disorders are the most prevalent mental health problem in this country. Anxiety disorders are the most persistent among African Americans (Breslau et al., 2006). Clinical studies by Friedman, Braunstein and Halpern (2006) suggests African American women with anxiety diagnoses appear to have the disorder for longer periods of time than their White counterparts. According to the Anxiety and Depression Association of America (ADAA), women are twice as likely to be diagnosed with an anxiety disorder compared

to men. The double minority status of gender and ethnicity places African American women at a higher risk for anxiety (Comas-Diaz & Greene, 1994). According to Neal-3Barnett et al. (2011), "panic attacks are among the most prevalent form of anxiety experienced by professional African American women" (p.1). The lack of knowledge on panic attacks combined with the reluctance to seek professional help results in African American women viewing this stressful situation as something to live with (Neal-Barnett et al., 2011).

Depression

Women experience depression at twice the rate of men (Girgus & Yang (2015); Sue et al., 2010). Social factors may contribute to the higher rates of depression among women. These factors include stress from work, family responsibility, and the roles and expectations of women (Girgus & Yang, 2015; Sherrill et al., 1997). Women with children have a higher risk of mental health problems than men (Barnett et al., 1994; Panda, 2015). According to Barnett et al. (1992) and Dibaji et al. (2017), women who worked part time did not have a problem with psychological distress when they had problems at home with their partner or children. They were able to adjust their schedules; this may have mitigated the mental distress they would have otherwise experienced if they were working full-time. Sharma (1999) noted that it is not employment or parental responsibilities alone that affect women's mental health but how the women combine the roles.

According to Lee et al. (2004) who studied multiple roles of Korean women, incompatibility between the roles of motherhood and employment increased levels of

depression. Korean families generally follow traditional values, and roles, in which the husband is the breadwinner and decision maker, and the wife is the nurturer (Lee et al., 2004). If a Korean woman identifies her work role as stressful and uses working harder as a coping strategy, she may experience more depression. The wives have roles of being a mother, spouse, and employee. The roles of mother and 3 employee may be in conflict with their traditional values causing role strain, which might result in depression. Women who perceive their role of motherhood and career as being incompatible were reported to having higher depression (Lee et al., 2004). This may be due to the conflict between their traditional values and working outside the home (Lee et al., 2004). The perception of role-conflict and enhancement may influence a woman's mental health (Tiedje et al., 1990; Zhou et al., 2018). Women with high role enhancement and low conflict may be less depressed. Role enhancement refers to roles that are compatible and beneficial. Tiedje et al. (1990) and Zhou et al. (2018) noted regardless of perceptions of enhancement, if a woman perceived a role as conflicting, she was more inclined to experience depression.

Bromberger et al. (2004) and Robinson (2018) found higher rates of depression existed in women who experienced financial strain, unemployment, and who were unmarried. When the aforementioned variables were controlled, African American women had reduced levels of depression. Reacting to this information, researchers have suggested the numbers could be lower due to the mental health needs of African American women being misdiagnosed, under diagnosed, and under treated (Sohail et al. 2014; Snowden & Pingitore, 2001). It has been noted by Nelson et al. (2022) and

Snowden and Pingitore (2001) that African American women tend to seek mental health treatment from their primary care physicians. The physicians may not evaluate the emotional distress of African American women accurately. African American women are less likely to have health insurance coverage that would allow them to visit psychologist or psychiatrists (Snowden & Pingitore, 2002). Many African American women may prefer to receive care from their primary physician than from mental health professionals (Snowden & Pingitore, 2002). If they do obtain mental health services, they are less likely to receive evidence-based care for depression or anxiety (Snowden & Pingitore, 2002).

Cochran et al. (1999) noted that depressive symptoms of African American women compared to White women were highest for those who were poor and not married. There were higher levels of depression among married Black women of higher socioeconomic status as a consequence of their having achieved a higher economic success in mainstream society. While attempting to assimilate economically and socially African American women pay a high emotional price. This could be a result of encountering both racial and gender bias. According to Gazmararian et al. (1995), African American women typically have a greater responsibility to care for older family members than do White women. They are exposed to a broader range of stressors such as racism. African American women have developed a number of coping skills including strong religious faith and social supports (Dalgard et al., 2006). Social support remains a factor in women's mental health (Dalgard et al., 2006). Women without social support

had a high prevalence of depression. Watson & Hunter (2015) and Wiggins et al. (1999) noted African American women frequently internalize oppression.

Summary and Conclusions

A combination of roles may enhance one women's well-being while another woman may be negatively affected (Sinha, 2017; Williams et al., 2003). For some women participating in multiple roles, the reward will outweigh negative effects (Cureton, 2018; Sieber, 1974). Individuals may perceive their role identities as a source of meaning, purpose, and behavioral guidance (Cureton, 2018; Simon, 1997). Recent reports indicate women who participate in multiple roles report lower levels of mental health problems and greater levels of well-being (Barnett & Hyde, 2001). Role conflict describes roles as being incompatible. The pressure from family roles and work roles may impose demands requiring time, energy, and commitment (Liang et al., 2019; Kahn et al., 1964). The individual may have to choose between the roles if one violates the expectations of the other (Liang et al., 2019; Sieber, 1974). Role strain or overload is said to occur when too many roles exist, causing stress in the individual (Baruch & Bamell, 1986). As role obligations increase, a time barrier may force the individual to honor some roles at the expense of no honoring other roles (Cureton, 2018; Sieber, 1974).

A review of the literature about the effects of the multiple roles of women has revealed a variety of variables that can have both positive and negative influences. Early reports on role theory suggested multiple roles can result in role strain, role overload, and conflicts (Goode, 1960). Competing hypotheses state multiple roles can lead to personal growth and well-being (Thoits, 1983). Gove and Hughes (1981) found women who

worked outside the home had less stress than housewives. Robinson et al. (2018) and Waldron and Jacobs (1989) reported women benefited from being in the labor force if they were unmarried rather than married. Repetti et al. (1989) noted that employment outside the home offers opportunities to increase social networks, which could result in better mental health. Dibaji, et al. (2017) and Simon (1995) noted women with numerous social roles experienced more depression. The impact of employment, relationships, and community involvement may decrease or increase a woman's stress depending on how she prioritizes her roles (Campos, 2013; Coverman, 1989). The African American family has been dependent on the African American woman's contribution to the family while they worked at home or outside the home (Wallace et al., 1980). Role overload is associated with conflicting role obligations leading to role strain and diminished psychological health (Coverman, 1989).

Married women with young children are more susceptible to stress while they attempt to engage in multiple roles (Kasen et al., 2003; Liang et al., 2019). Women who are unable to manage their roles well or feel they are losing control and cannot achieve their desired goals may be experiencing role strain (Home, 1996). Tweed and Jackson (1981) found the housekeeping role and its association with raising children is often found to be unsatisfying and stressful. Gove & Geerkin (1977) and Liang et al. (2019), stated children have an adverse effect on parents' emotional health.

Spousal support is a major factor in the balance of a women's stress level (McBride, 1990). Women with similar roles to their husbands have been identified as having more anxiety, distress, somatic complaints, and depression than other women

(Simon, 1995). Husbands' modest contribution to housework and childcare has often been the source of strain for the wife (Council, 2021; Simon, 1995). The wife is usually responsible for the bulk of domestic chores and childcare even though she is employed outside the home. Over involvement in one's career can result in strain on the marriage, especially if children are involved and the wife is taking in traditional roles in the home (Skinner,1980). Women working long hours tend to have a greater chance experiencing depression (Maclean et al., 2004; Xu, 2019).

The previous described findings were reported by general role theorists. The debate seemingly continues. However, little research has been conducted about the roles taken by African American w9omen. However, the literature overall showed employed African American women had significantly lower levels of family satisfaction when they were compared to women who were not employed (Reskin & Coverman, 1985).

A review of the literature about multiple role engagement revealed a wide variety of complex variables, which can have both positive and negative influences on women. Women are involved in roles as parents, mothers, employees, and community volunteers. All of these can have an enriching or deflating effect on their mental health. This study intends to improve the understanding of various roles and how they are related to depression and anxiety for educated African American women. This study focused on African American women who have earned at least a bachelor's degree and are involved in at least three roles (i.e., mother, wife, employee). I will assess the circumstances, concerns, and problems the participants face while involved in multiple roles and determine if the roles are associated with depression and anxiety. There is very little data

on college-educated women involved in multiple roles and even less data on educated African American women specifically. In the next chapter I will discuss the research procedures in more detail.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between the roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of educated African American women and the influence on their mental health (i.e., depression and anxiety) as a result of role strain. I used quantitative measures to assess the study variables. I will review the instrumentation in this chapter. The online survey for the study included different measures that were used to quantitatively assess depression, anxiety, and role strain of the participants. The RQs and hypotheses for the study were as follows:

RQ1: Are marital status, parental status, and employment status associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_01 : Marital status, parental status, and employment status are not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 1: Marital status, parental status, and employment status are associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ2: Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_02 : Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 2: Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ3: Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_03 : Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are not associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 3: Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

In this chapter, I will discuss the methods for recruiting participants and other procedures, including for data analyses. The relationship among role strain and multiple roles will be clarified by reviewing variables such as marital status, parental status, and employment status, to identify predictors of role strain of educated African American women. The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between the roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of educated African American women and the influence on their mental health as a result of role strain. In this quantitative study, I examined the multiple roles of educated African American women and the association of role strain with depression and anxiety. Depression, anxiety, and multiple role strain were measured. The participating women had to have at least three roles. Findings may benefit African American women, the medical community who treat African American women, and employers who are interested in improving the health and well-being of those whom they employ.

Research Design and Rationale

This was a quantitative study. I examined several variables to determine whether multiple roles of educated African American women were associated with role strain,

depression, and anxiety. The independent variables in the study were marital status, parental status, and employment status. The dependent variables were role strain, depression, and anxiety. The research design selected for the study was a cross-sectional survey design. I chose a convenience sample of educated African American women as a population sample. A cross-sectional study is used to study a given population at a specific point of time (Maninder, 2016). Researchers used a cross-sectional study design to analyze data from population-based surveys to identify the prevalence of disease in samples (Maninder (2016). Survey research is used to quantitatively describe specific information from a given population, which often involves examining relationships among variables (Salant & Dillman, 1994). I used a cross-sectional study design to acquire information about college-degreed African American women.

I administered the surveys online. The surveys measured multiple variables. Advantages of an online survey include low cost, reduced time required for implementation, and greater accessibility (Maninder, 2016). Disadvantages of the online survey for this study included the inability to generate a random sample of the general population because I sent the surveys to specific groups on the internet. It is challenging to derive causal relationships with cross-sectional analysis as it is a one-time measurement (Maninder 2016). However, it can provide useful information for further research.

Methodology

Population

According to the United States Census Bureau (2018), there were 22 million African American females in the United States in 2017. There were 14 million African American women 25 years and older. Of the 14 million African American women, 24% had bachelor's degrees or higher.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The convenience sample included participants from local African American sororities, women's groups, local churches, and referrals from participants. The selection criteria included African American mothers 18 years of age or older who were degreed and employed. Participants had at least one child aged 18 or younger. I posted electronic invitations to groups on social media to participate in the survey. The invitation was submitted to women's groups in which the majority of the members were college-degreed African American women. The selection criteria included that women have at least three roles (e.g., spouse, mother, and employee).

G*Power

I used G*Power software for power analysis and sample size calculations per Walden University (2020). I used G*Power 3.1.9.2 software to determine the appropriate sample size and statistical power for statistical significance. I used multiple regression analysis to determine the sample size. The effect size (f²) was set at .15, the significance level used (alpha)to compute the confidence level (err prob)was set at 0.05, and the power was a conventional .80. The number of predictors was different for each RQ

because the number of independent variables was different. The sample size calculated was 77 for RQ1, which had three variables, and 55 for RQs 2 and 3 as they had one variable. Therefore, I sought to obtain 77 participants for this correlational study. The RQs and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: Are marital status, parental status, and employment status associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_01 : Marital status, parental status, and employment status are not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 $H_{\rm a}1$: Marital status, parental status, and employment status are associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ2: Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_02 : Depression, as measured by PHQ-9, is not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a2 : Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain.

RQ3: Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_03 : Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are not associated with role strain, as measured by WRSI.

 H_a 3: Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are associated with role strain, as measured by WRSI.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

At the recommendation of the G Power software a minimum of 77 college educated African American women were asked to respond to a survey. The survey contained questions relating to mental health, emotional health, and physical health. I recruited respondents from across the United States including urban and rural areas. Each participant was informed that they were required to meet inclusion criteria, which included having at least three roles.

I distributed a letter announcing the project via the internet to sororities, local churches, and social and professional organizations with African American women members. Volunteers from these organizations were asked to participate and answer a one-time online survey. Prospective participants received an invitation letter (see Appendix A) and informed consent form with the survey. The Qualtrics survey contained questions to identify role strain, anxiety, and depression in African American women with college degrees. The survey consisted of 79 questions and took less than a half an hour to complete.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The online survey included demographic questions (see Appendix B), the GAD-7 (Spitzer et al., 2006; Appendix C), the PHQ-9 (Kroenke et al., 2001; Appendix D), and the WRSI (Lengacher, 1997; Appendix E).

General Anxiety Disorder-7

The GAD-7 was developed to screen for general anxiety in primary care settings (Spitzer et al., 2006). Spitzer et al. (2006) designed the GAD-7 to be a self-report

inventory. The inventory measures the severity of anxiety in individuals 18-95 years. The inventory takes less than 2 min to complete. No permission was required to reproduce, translate, display, or distribute the survey. The inventory discriminates between anxious and nonanxious groups. The seven items assess (a) feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge; (b) being able to stop or control worrying; (c) worrying too much about different things; (d) trouble relaxing; (e) being restless; (f) becoming easily annoyed or irritable; and (g) feeling afraid as if something awful might happen. Each item is scored on a four-point Likert Scale (0-3) with the total score ranging from 0 to 21. The GAD-7 is calculated by assigning scores of 0, 1, 2, and 3 to the response categories of "not at all," "several days," "more than half the days, and "nearly every day," respectively (Spitzer et al., 2006). A total score of 0-4 indicated minimal anxiety; 5-9; mild anxiety; 10-14, moderate anxiety; and 15-21, severe anxiety. The higher the score, the more severe the anxiety. Scores greater than 10 are considered to be in the clinical range (Spitzer et al., 2006).

The GAD-7 was normed on 2,739 adults (Spitzer et al, 2006). Sixty-five percent of the participants were female (Spitzer et al, 2006). According to Spitzer et al. (2006) Eight percent of the participants were African American but there was no specification on the number of African American females. The reliability was good (Cronbach's alpha=.92). The GAD had good procedural reliability, excellent internal consistency. There was good criterion validity, factorial validity, and procedural validity. The test-retest was good .83 (Spitzer et al., 2006). When the participants were interviewed by mental health professionals, the GAD-7 was found to have good procedural validity. I chose this instrument as it is considered a reliable and valid measure of anxiety severity.

Patient Health Questionnaire-9

The PHQ-9 was a self-administered version of the PRIME-MD diagnostic instrument, which measures depression in individuals 18 years and older. The PHQ-9 was developed by Dr. Kurt Kroenke and Janet Williams. It was developed as an educational grant from Pfizer, Inc. No permission was required to reproduce, translate, display or distribute. The PHQ-9 rated the frequency of the symptoms identified by the participant (Kroenke et al., 2001). The PHQ-9 screened and assigned weight to the degree of depressive symptoms affect the participants level of function (Kroenke et al., 2001). There were 9 items to measure. The assessment took less than 5 min to complete. A sample question asked is if the participant is feeling depressed. The question was answered "0" (not at all), "1" (several days), "2" (more than half the days). Or "3" (nearly every day). The columns were added for a total score, which ranged from 0-27. The total score identified the severity of depression. Scores between 5-9 represented minimal symptoms of depression; 10-14 represented minor depression; 15-19 represented major depression, moderately severe; greater than 20 represented major depression, severe.

According to Kroenke et al. (2006), the PHQ-9 was normed on 3,890 patients from 18 years and older. Fifteen percent of the participants were African American women. The internal reliability of the PHQ-9 has a Cronbach's α = .89 in the Primary Care Study and a .86 in the PHQ-9 Obstetrics and Gynecology Study. The PHQ-9 had good procedural reliability, excellent internal consistency. There was good criterion validity, factorial validity, and procedural validity. Test-retest reliability of the PHQ-9

was .84 within 48 hr. Validity was good and established by structured interviews by mental health professionals. The results showed the patients who scored greater than_10 on the PHQ-9 were between 7 to 13.6 times more likely to be diagnosed with depression by the mental health professional and those patients who scored less than 4 had less than 1 in 25 chance of having depression (Kroenke et al., 2001). I chose to use this measure as it was considered a reliable and valid measure of depression severity.

Working Women's Role Strain Inventory

The WRSI is a self-report inventory that assesses the degree of role strain experienced by women who juggle the roles of wife, mother, and employee (Yang et al., 2008). The WRSI was developed by Cecile Lengacher. No permission was required to reproduce, translate, display or distribute. I was unable to locate the age of the participants. However, the median age of the participants was 37 years (Lengacher, 1997). The WRSI had 44 items referring to the experiences of working women. The participants rated their level of agreement based on a 5-point Likert scale of 1-5; 1 (strongly disagree); 2 (frequently disagree); 3 (agree); 4 (agree); 5 (strongly agree) to determine the role with the greatest conflict. An example of a question on the WRSI was "My working role does not cause me strain". The participant would respond by circling the number 1-5 based on the feeling, opinion, or action. The possible numbers were totaled. The possible total score on the WRSI ranged from 44 to 220. The higher the score the greater the conflict. Sixteen items on the WRSI were calculated for Role Distress (RD) reflecting adverse strain associated with multiple roles of working and family. Twelve items on the WRSI were calculated for Role Enhancement (RE)

reflecting a positive response to multiple roles. Twelve items on the WRSI were calculated for Role Support (RS), reflecting the importance of support from family and friends.

According to Lengacher (1997) the WRSI was normed on 445 female nurses. The number of African American participants was not discussed. The content validity index was .91 suggesting the scale was suitable for identifying role strain (Lengacher, 1997). The WRSI had good procedural reliability, excellent internal consistency. There was good criterion validity, factorial validity, and procedural validity. The test- retest coefficients ranged from .61 to .91 (Lengacher, 1997). The internal consistency alpha coefficient was .93. Validity was good. I chose this instrument to assess role strain in women as it had a high reliability and validity.

Demographic Survey

Participants were also asked to complete a demographic information survey. The questions allowed me to collect information on marital status, employment status, level of education, roles, annual family income, work status, household size, and number of children living in the home. The demographic survey listed eight roles of women (i.e., mother, employee, wife/partner, church member, community organization member, daughter, student, and friend). The demographic survey also identified if there were any recent life events that occurred which could be attributed to stress.

Data Analysis Plan

This was a quantitative survey designed to examine the relationship of multiple roles on educated African American women. Participants were provided a link on social

media to an online survey that was created through Qualtrics (www.qualtrics.com). Data were exported from the Qualtrics Web site into the statistical program, SPSS. Correlation analysis was conducted to determine if there was a relationship between marital status, parental status, employment status and role strain. Correlation analyses was also conducted to determine if there was a relationship between role strain and depression and role strain and anxiety. Multivariate analyses were conducted to explore the relationship between the dependent variables and the independent variables.

Threats to Validity

Using self-report instruments to measure the relationship between roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of the participants, there is an assumption that the participants will answer truthfully. However, there is a possibility the answers may not fully mirror the participants' feelings and behaviors. According to Cook & Campbell (1979) the threat to validity is greater than actually observing the performance of the participants in a direct measure. I am expecting the participants' responses to be as close to the truth as possible.

External Validity

According to Christensen (2000) external validity was defined as the extent to which the results of the study can be generalized and applied to other groups. This cross-sectional study of college-educated African American women between the ages of 25 and 55 with three specific roles (parent, spouse, and employed) may not reflect the same results as another group of women (Cook & Campbell ,1979).

A power analysis determined the effect size of the variables and predictability. The sample was a convenience sample and not a random sample, which limits generalizability. However, the convenience sample consisted of participants who maintain the roles needed with the characteristics necessary for the study.

Internal Validity

According to Cook & Campbell (1979), Internal Validity was related to that which is done in practice compared to what is done in an ideal situation. The self-report instruments were uniform but the possibility of the participants failing to take part or not participate in every phase of the study (fully answering all the questions) may result in mortality of the study. However, the instruments used were considered short forms, or abbreviated tools, which would not require a lot of time to complete.

Ethical Procedures

There were several ethical areas to consider while conducting this research. They include potential for harm, participant confidentiality and anonymity. I ensured full disclosure of potential outcomes so that no harm or negative consequences would happen to participants. The respondents were African American women between the ages of 25 and 55. The respondents were volunteers who chose to participate in the study. They were free to decline participation. There were a greater number of surveys collected in case there were surveys not completely answered. The respondents did not know the results of the surveys. Their data were archived. There was minimal respondent risk involved. The study relied on the accuracy and reliability of the study's reporting

measures, procedures, and protocols. All participants were provided with a list of mental health resources at the end of the survey.

Electronic surveys were assessed by Qualtrics software. The results contained the letter of consent form and survey. I received the responses. They were separated into two separate files. The files were maintained on a password protected laptop protecting their anonymity and responses. All information was maintained for a minimum of 5 years. I was the only one with access to the files. The data were stored on a flash drive and kept in a protected area. The files will be deleted by using a Window's desk cleanup utility that permanently removes files from the computer and the recycle bin. Files will be maintained for 5 years. This study relied on the accuracy and reliability of the report3ing measures, procedures, and protocols. There was no threat of any identifying information being revealed in the dissemination of the research findings as names and personal information was not connected. Documents required by the Walden University Institutional Review Board (i.e., agreements to gain access to participants, treatment of human participants, and Institutional permissions) were included once they were received.

Summary

This chapter described the research methodology used for the cross-sectional study and criteria for the multiple roles along with the characteristics of the sample, the types of instruments used to assess the variables (role strain, anxiety, and depression), and demographics. It also described the procedures, RQs, null hypotheses, sample size and power analysis of the study.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to assess the relationship between the roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of educated African American women and the influence on their mental health (i.e., depression and anxiety) as a result of role strain, as measured by the WRSI, GAD-7, and the PHQ-9. With more women in the workforce and minimum change in responsibilities in the home, there is a need to review how women, specifically African American women, are experiencing stress with competing claims on their time (Campos et al.,2013). The RQs concerned the relationship between the independent variables (marital status, parental status, and employment status) and the dependent variables (role strain, depression, and anxiety).

In this chapter, I provide the results of the quantitative study. Using SPSS software package Version 27, I obtained descriptive statistics including means, standard deviations, frequencies, and percentages. The chapter will include textual and tabular presentation of the data results. SPSS was used to conduct parametric and nonparametric tests such as t-tests, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), Pearson's product-moment correlations, and Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U tests to examine the RQs and the hypotheses, which were as follows:

RQ1: Do marital status, parental status, and employment status influence levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_01 : Marital Status, parental status, and employment status are not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 1: Marital status, parental status, and employment status are associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ2: Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_01 : Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is not associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 2: Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

RQ3: Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_03 : Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are not associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

 H_a 3: Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

Data Collection

After receiving Institutional Review Board approval (no. 07-06-22-0032350), I posted surveys on social media (i.e., Facebook groups). The surveys opened on July 19, 2022, and closed on September 20, 2022. The Facebook groups were targeted to African American women with college degrees. Surveys were also available to women in an African American nursing sorority and the Walden University participant pool. The surveys were designed for college-educated African American women with multiple

roles. Of the 135 surveys viewed and/or started, only 82 were completed, giving a 61% completion rate.

I used G*Power 3.1.9.2 to determine the appropriate sample size and statistical power for statistical significance. I used multiple regression analysis to determine the sample size. The effect size f² was 0.15, the alpha significance level was 0.05, and the power was a conventional .80. The number of predictors was different for each RQ because the number of independent variables was different. The sample size calculated was 77 for RQ1, which had three variables, and 55 for RQs 2 and 3 as they had one variable. I wanted to obtain a minimum of 77 participants and ended with 82 women with multiple roles.

Demographics

I collected demographic information on the participants to provide information about the population. Eighty-two college-educated African American women completed demographic questionnaires. Sixty-five percent of the women in the study had a master's degree. Ninety-nine percent of the women had children. Thirty-two percent of the women had one child, and 29% had two or three children. Almost all participants (98%) of the women in the study were employed. All participants reported their overall health as being fair or above. Forty-five percent of the women participants reported minimal depression, 34% reported mild depression, 15% reported moderate depression, 5% reported moderately severe depression, and 1% reported severe depression. Seventy-one percent had a family income between \$76,000 and \$100,000. Of those who responded to the employment question relating to their spouse, all indicated that their spouses were

employed. The largest group of participants (34%) stated that their spouse had an associate's degree, and the next largest group of participants (31%) indicated that their spouse was a 4-year college graduate. Seventy-one percent of the women had a family income of \$76,000 to \$100,000. The majority reported good overall health (71%). The majority reported good health for their husband (60%). The majority reported excellent health status for their children (55%). Table 1 reports the demographic information.

Table 1Frequencies and Percentages for Categorical Study Variables

Variable	n	%
Marital status		
Single	3	3.7
Married/Living together	79	96.3
No. of children		
No children	1	1.2
1 child	26	32.1
2 children	24	29.6
3 children	24	29.6
4 children	6	7.4
5 children	1	1.2
Parental status		
Not a parent	1	1.2
Parent	81	98.8
Employment status		
Unemployed	2	2.4
Employed	80	97.6
Patient Health Questionnaire-9 depression severity		
Minimal depression	37	45.1
Mild depression	28	34.1
Moderate depression	12	14.6
Moderately severe depression	4	4.9
Severe depression	1	1.2
Educational level		
Some graduate school	2	2.4
College graduate	6	7.3
Master's degree	53	64.6
Doctorate	21	25.6

Variable	n	%
Family income		
\$25-\$50K	3	3.8
\$51-75K	12	15.2
\$76-\$100K	56	70.9
Greater than \$100K	8	10.1
Spouse employment status		
Employed	74	100.0
Spouse education level		
Associate's degree	24	34.3
Some graduate school	6	8.6
College graduate	22	31.4
Master's degree	12	17.1
Doctorate	6	8.6
Health status overall		
Poor	0	.0
Fair	11	13.4
Good	58	70.7
Excellent	13	15.9
Health status of husband		
Poor	1	1.3
Fair	12	15.4
Good	47	60.3
Excellent	18	23.1
Health status of children		
Poor	0	.0
Fair	0	.0
Good	33	42.3
Excellent	45	57.7

Note. Frequencies not summing to 82 reflect missing data.

Table 2 contains the continuous variables. The WRSI has four categories of role strain: overall role strain, role distress, role enhancement, and role support. Overall WRSI scores ranged from 30 to 121 with a mean of 76.54 (SD = 22.46). The role distress scores ranged from 8 to 53 with a mean of 29.04 (SD = 11.42). The role enhancement scores ranged from 14 to 45 with a mean of 29.39 (SD = 7.49). The role support scores ranged from 3 to 33 with a mean of 18.38 (SD = 5.87). The PHQ-9 scores ranged from 0 to 24 with a mean score of 6.29 (SD = 4.63). The PHQ-9 Depression Severity scores ranged from 1 to 5 with a mean score of 1.83 (SD = .94). The GAD-7 scores ranged from 0 to 21 with a mean score of 6.15 (SD = 4.85). The ages of the participants ranged from 22 to 61 with a mean of 43.44 years (SD = 7.78). The ages of the spouses ranged from 30 to 63 with a mean of 45.97 (SD = 7.80). The number of children ranged from 1 to 5 with a mean of 2.16 (SD = 1.03). The years of marriage ranged from 1 to 38 with a mean of 14.35 years (SD = 8.31).

 Table 2

 Means and Standard Deviations for Continuous Study Variables

Variables	N	М	SD	Min	Max
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale	82	76.54	22.46	30	121
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress	81	29.06	11.42	8	53
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement	82	29.39	7.49	14	45
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support	82	18.38	5.87	3	33
Patient Health Questionnaire	82	6.29	4.63	0	24
General Anxiety Disorder	82	6.15	4.85	0	21
Age	82	43.44	7.79	22	61
Number of children	82	2.13	1.03	0	5
Spouse age	74	45.97	7.80	30	63
Years of marriage	75	14.35	8.31	1	38

Note. Ns not equal to 82 reflect missing data.

Data Analysis

A descriptive analysis of the study variables was conducted using tabulations of categorical variables to provide frequencies and percentages. For continuous study variables, frequencies, means, standard deviations, and minimum and maximum values

were reported. The primary analysis was conducted to answer the study RQs using bivariate analyses to explore the individual relationships and comparisons between the independent and dependent variables in the study. The analysis was then expanded to include more exploratory and multivariate analysis of the dependent variables. Significance levels were set at .05 alpha level. The analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS version 27 (IBM Corp. Released 2020).

RQ1 asked, are marital status, parental status, and employment status associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI? To test these factors, mean differences in the WRSI based on marital status was analyzed using an independent sample t-test which reported whether a significant difference in means between the two groups existed at the .05 level. Means and standard deviations for all groups and p-values were reported for these analyses.

Two separate analyses were used to test the number of children and parental status influence on the WRSI. For the first test, the number of children was correlated with the WRSI using a Pearson Product-Moment Correlation to determine if a relationship existed at the .05 level. This analysis assessed to what extent and in what direction did the WRSI scale move given an increase in children for a participant.

Associations were expressed using correlation coefficients (*r*) that varied from -1 to 1 with an *r* approaching 0 indicating no relationship exists. For the second test, the number of children was recoded as a binary variable that captured whether a participant either had or did not have children (parental status) and an independent sample t-test was conducted to determine if there was a statistically significant mean difference in WRSI by parental

status at the .05 level. Last, to test employment status an independent sample t-test was conducted to determine if there was a statistically significant mean difference in WRSI by employment status at the .05 level. Non-parametric equivalents to the parametric tests mentioned above were also conducted to ensure statistical significance did not vary due to potential non-normality and dependence of ordinally measured categories. Non-parametric tests do not have as stringent assumptions of the data in this regard.

Accordingly, Mann-Whitney U tests were analyzed along with independent sample t-tests and Spearman's rho correlations analyzed along with Pearson's correlations. If statistical significance varied across parametric and non-parametric tests, the results of the non-parametric test would be reported as well to provide a more valid interpretation.

RQ2 asked, Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI? Two separate tests were used to test the relationship between depression and the WRSI. For the first test, the PHQ-9 depression scale was correlated with the WRSI using a Pearson Product-Moment Correlation test. This analysis was used to establish the strength and direction an increase in depression had on the WRSI scale. For the second test, the PHQ-9 depression scale was categorized into clinically validated ordinal levels of depression which had six levels that ranged from no depression to severe depression. To analyze this against the WRSI, a one-way ANOVA was implemented that assessed whether the mean level of the WRSI was significantly different for levels of depression. Means and standard deviations for all groups and F-test statistics and p-values were reported for the overall test. Spearman's

rho and the Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric equivalents were also tested to ensure there was no variation in statistical significance, respectively.

RQ3 asked, Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI? To test the relationship between general anxiety and the WRSI, the GAD-7 anxiety scale was correlated with the WRSI using a Pearson Product-Moment Correlation test. This analysis was used to establish the strength and direction an increase in anxiety had on the WRSI scale. A Spearman's rho non-parametric equivalent was also tested to ensure there was no variation in statistical significance.

Additionally, three follow-up exploratory analyses were also implemented. A correlation analysis was conducted to explore the relationship between all other factors in the data with the dependent study variables to see if there were additional important relationships that could be established. A Pearson Product-Moment Correlation was conducted using the number of children, family income, participant age, spouse age, and years of marriage with the subscales of the WRSI, the overall WRSI composite, GAD7, and PHQ-9 scales. Lastly, two multivariate analyses were conducted using the independent variables from RQ1 (employment status, parental status, and marital status) and testing their effects on: 1) each of the subscales of the WRSI (role distress, role enhancement, and role support) and 2) on the overall WRSI composite, the GAD7, and the PHQ-9. These multivariate analyses were implemented using a three-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) which can test independent effects on multiple continuously measured dependent variables simultaneously. Accordingly, the

MANOVA can test the univariate effects of the independent variables on the dependent variables and also the multivariate effect of the independent variables on all three dependent variables simultaneously. Means and standard deviations for all groups and F-test statistics and p-values were reported for the univariate and multivariate tests. I examined the assumptions using the Levene's test to ensure the group variances were similar. The Levene's test was used with the WRSI scale as it related to marital status and employment status.

Results

Research Question 1

RQ1: Are marital status, parental status, and employment status associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_a 1: Marital status, parental status, and employment status are associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

A Levene's test was conducted to ensure that group variances were similar, and the results of that test indicate that they all were equal. An independent sample t-test was conducted to assess the mean differences in the WRSI scales between married/living together and single participants. Prior to running the t-test the WRSI needed reverse scoring on specific questions to tally the scores correctly. Questions 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 17, 19, 20, 22, 23, 26, 31, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, and 41 are reverse coded to that higher numbers represent greater amounts of strain.

The results of these analyses are shown in Table 3. The results of the t-tests show that none of the WRSI scales had statistically different means between these groups at the

.05 alpha level. The results of this test suggest that there are no group differences in role strain between single and married/living together participants.

Table 3Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI) by Marital Status

Outcomes by Marital Status	n	M	SD	p
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Overall scale				.281
Single	3	90.33	27.02	
Married/Living Together	79	76.01	22.30	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Role Distress				.362
Single	3	35.00	12.17	
Married/Living Together	78	28.83	11.41	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Role Enhancement				.247
Single	3	34.33	10.07	
Married/Living Together	79	29.20	7.40	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Role Support				.434
Single	3	21.00	5.20	
Married/Living Together	79	18.28	5.90	

Note. Y Equal variances not assumed statistics reported.

A correlation analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between the WRSI scales and the number of children a participant has. The results of these tests are shown in Table 4. The results of the correlation tests show that none of the WRSI scales had statistically significant association with the number of children a participant has at the .05 alpha level. All of the correlations were very small effect sizes (all rs < .10). The results

of this test suggest that there is no relationship between the number of children a participant has and role strain. The statistical significance of these tests was consistent across both parametric and non-parametric tests.

Table 4Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations of Number of Children with Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)

	Number of children
Correlations	r
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale	.001
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress	042
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement	039
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support	.077

Note. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

As an added test of this relationship, the number of children was recoded into a categorical variable with two groups: non-parent and parent. An independent sample t-test was conducted to assess the mean differences in the WRSI scales between non-parents and participants that are parents. The results of these tests are shown in Table 5. A Levene's test was not conducted due to the lack of variance in the "Not a parent" group. As an added measure to account for low group sample sizes, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U tests were also conducted. The results of the t-tests show that the overall, role distress, and role enhancement WRSI scales had statistically different means

between these groups at the .05 alpha level. For the overall scale, mothers have significantly less role strain (M=75.99, SD=22.03) compared to non-parents (M=121.00), p<.05. For the role distress subscale, although the parametric tests showed non-significance, the non-parametric test did indicate a significant difference (p=.049) suggesting that mothers have significantly less role strain (M=28.81, SD=11.27) compared to non-parents (M=49.00). For the role enhancement subscale, mothers have significantly less role strain (M=29.20, SD=7.33) compared to non-parents (M=45.00), p<.05. The role support subscale was not significant in either parametric or non-parametric tests. These results indicate that there is considerably more role strain for non-parents compared to parents and these results diverge from the results of the number of children analysis due to what is likely the categorical nature of the effect of parenthood – e.g., whether you have 1 child or 5 children, the impact of role strain is lower than if you have no children.

Table 5Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI) by Parental Status

Outcome by Parental Status	n	М	SD	p
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale Not a parent	1	121.00	_	.046
Parent	81	75.99	22.03	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress				.079
Not a parent	1	49.00	-	
Parent	80	28.81	11.27	

Outcome by Parental Status	n	M	SD	p
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Role Enhancement				.035
Not a parent	1	45.00	-	
Parent	81	29.20	7.33	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory:				
Role Support				.140
Not a parent	1	27.00	-	
Parent	81	18.27	5.82	

Note. The Levene's test of equal variances was not conducted due to the lack of variance in the "Not a parent" group.

A Levene's test was conducted to ensure that group variances were similar, and the results of that test indicate that they all were equal. An independent sample t-test was conducted to assess the mean differences in the WRSI scales between unemployed and employed participants. The results of these tests are shown in Table 6. The results of the t-tests show that none of the WRSI scales had statistically different means between these groups at the .05 alpha level. The results of this test suggest that there are no group differences in strain between single and married/living together participants.

Table 6Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI) by Employment Status

Outcome by Employment Status	n	M	SD	p
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale				.730
Unemployed	2	82.00	38.18	
Employed	80	76.40	22.31	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress				.750
Unemployed	2	26.50	20.51	
Employed	79	29.13	11.32	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement				.436
Unemployed	2	33.50	16.269	
Employed	80	29.29	7.33	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support				.380
Unemployed	2	22.00	1.41	
Employed	80	18.29	5.91	

Note. Y Equal variances not assumed statistics reported.

Research Question 2

RQ2: Is depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

 H_a 2: Depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

A correlation analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between the WRSI scales and the PHQ-9 scale and its ordinal severity measure. The results of these tests are shown in Table 7. The results of the correlation tests show that all of the WRSI scales had a statistically significant positive association with the PHQ-9 scale and severity measures at the .05 alpha level. All of the correlations were moderate to strong effect sizes (all *rs* ranged from .332 to .558). The results of this test suggest that there is a positive relationship between depression and role strain such that as levels of depression increase, so too does role strain, or vice versa. The statistical significance of these tests was consistent across both parametric and non-parametric tests.

Table 7Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations for Depression (PHQ-9 Scale) with Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)

	PHQ-9 Scale	PHQ-9 Severity		
Correlations	r	r		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale	.558 **	** .540 ***		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress	.555 **	** .520 ***		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement	.593 **	** .579 ***		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support	.334 **	* .332 **		

Note. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

As an added test of this relationship, the PHQ-9 severity measure was included in a one-way ANOVA to assess the mean differences in the WRSI scales between the PHQ-9 severity categories. The results of these tests are shown in Table 8. The results of the one-way ANOVAs show that all of the WRSI scales had a statistically significant overall mean differences across the PHQ-9 severity categories at the .05 alpha level. Typical post-hoc testing to see where pairwise mean differences existed could not be conducted due to only one participant being in the severe category. To overcome this issue, pairwise non-parametric Mann-Whitney U tests were conducted to assess the statistical

significance of the comparisons. A Bonferroni correction was applied to account for the use of multiple tests. The post-hoc tests indicate that for the overall WRSI scale there is a significant mean difference between the minimal depression (M = 66.49, SD = 18.54) and the moderate depression (M = 97.42, SD = 13.32) groups, p < .05. There was also a significant difference between minimal depression (M = 66.49, SD = 18.54) and moderately severe depression (M = 99.75, SD = 13.48) groups, p < .05.

For the role distress subscale of the WRSI, the only statistically significant pairwise mean difference was between minimal depression (M = 24.08, SD = 9.72) and the moderate depression (M = 39.50, SD = 7.75), p < .05. For the role enhancement subscale of the WRSI, there were statistically significant pairwise mean differences between minimal depression (M = 25.24, SD = 5.91) and mild depression (M = 30.46, SD = 7.29), moderate depression (M = 36.00, SD = 4.47) and moderately severe depression (M = 38.00, SD = 4.32), all ps < .05. For the role support subscale of the WRSI, there were no statistically significant pairwise mean differences in post-hoc analysis. The results of these tests suggest that generally speaking, as levels of depression severity increase, levels of role strain increase – mirroring the results of the correlation analysis with the PHQ-9 scale.

Table 8

Means and Standard Deviations for Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI) by Depression (PHQ-9 Categorical Levels)

Outcome by PHQ-9 Severity	N	M		SD	F	p
Warling Warran's Dala Chrain						
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale					8.60	< .001
Minimal depression	37	66.49	a a,	18.54		
Mild depression	28	76.18	b	22.25		
Moderate depression	12	97.42	b	13.32		
Moderately severe depression	4	99.75	b a,	13.48		
Severe depression	1	115.00	b	-		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress					7.69	< .001
Minimal depression	37	24.08	a a,	9.72		
Mild depression	27	29.00	b	11.25		
Moderate depression	12	39.50	b a,	7.75		
Moderately severe depression	4	39.75	b a,	4.99		
Severe depression	1	47.00	b	-		
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement					10.27	< .001
Minimal depression	37	25.24	a	5.91		
Mild depression	28	30.46	b	7.29		
Moderate depression	12	36.00	b	4.47		
Moderately severe depression	4	38.00	b a,	4.32		
Severe depression	1	39.00	b	-		

Outcome by PHQ-9 Severity	N	M	SD	F	p
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support				3.12	.020
Minimal depression	37	17.16 ^a	5.07		
Mild depression	28	17.57 a	6.35		
Moderate depression	12	21.92 a	3.87		
Moderately severe depression	4	22.00 a	8.60		
Severe depression	1	29.00 a	-		

Note. Note. Means with different superscripts differ significantly, p < .05. Statistical significance for the post-hoc tests from which the superscripts were derived were drawn from pairwise non-parametric Mann-Whitney U results due to the lack of variance in the "Severe depression" group. Post-hoc significance was adjusted using Bonferroni corrections for multiple tests.

Research Question 3

RQ3: Are levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI?

Ha3: Levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, are associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

A correlation analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between the WRSI scales and the GAD-7 scale. The results of these tests are shown in Table 9. The results of the correlation tests show that all the WRSI scales had a statistically significant positive association with the GAD-7 scale and severity measures at the .05 alpha level.

All the correlations were moderate to strong effect sizes (all rs ranged from (.349 to .543). The results of this test suggest there is a positive relationship between anxiety and role strain such that as levels of anxiety increase, so too does role strain, or vice versa. The statistical significance of these tests was consistent across both parametric and non-parametric tests.

Table 9Pearson's Product–Moment Correlations for General Anxiety (GAD-7 Scale) with Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)

	GAD-7 Scale
Correlations	r
9	
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Overall scale	.526 ***
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Distress	.534 ***
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Enhancement	.502 ***
Working Woman's Role Strain Inventory: Role Support	.349 **

Note. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

The Pearson bivariate correlation analysis of the independent and demographic variables with the WRSI overall and subscales, and anxiety and depression measures showed some statistically significant relationships. The results of these tests are shown in Table 10. Parental status and years of marriage seemed to have an impact on the WRSI and its subscale measures. Specifically, if a respondent had children (regardless of the number) this was negatively correlated with levels of the Women's Role Stress Inventory (WRSI) overall scale (r = -.221, p < .05). This finding suggests that children reduce

levels of overall stress. Similarly, a negative correlation was found for parental status and the WRSI Role enhancement subscale (r = -.233, p < .05) suggesting that children reduces levels of role enhancement stress. Last, years of marriage was also a statistically significant finding in the correlation analysis (r = -.248, p < .05) indicating that as years of marriage increase, levels of role enhancement stress decrease.

Table 10Pearson Correlations between Independent Variables and Dependent Variables

	WRSI Overall	WRSI Role Distress	WRSI Role Enhance- ment	WRSI Role Supp- ort	GAD 7	PHQ 9	
IV with DV	r	r	r	r	r	r	
Marital status	120	103	129	088	.060	.083	
Parental status (binary)	221	*196	233	*164	.003	114	
Employment Status	039	.036	087	098	.054	007	
Number of children	.001	042	039	.077	.080	065	
Family income	133	154	073	105	.185	045	
Age in years	173	126	193	067	.068	132	

	WRSI Overall	WRSI Role Distress	WRSI Role Enhance- ment	WRSI Role Suppo rt	GAD 7	PHQ 9
IV with DV	r	r	r	r	r	r
Spouse age in years	054	050	071	.055	.053	052
Years of marriage	140	144	248 *	· .113	.031	090

Note. * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

The three-way MANOVA on the WRSI subscales using the marital, parental, and employment status independent variables did not reveal any statistically significant multivariate effects. The results of these tests are shown in Table 11. Specifically, the multivariate effect of marital status, F(3, 75) = .005, p = .999, $\eta^2 < .001$; parental status, F(3, 75) = 1.11, p = .352, $\eta^2 = .042$; and employment status, F(3, 75) = 1.68, p = .178, $\eta^2 = .063$ did not show statistically significant effects or meaningful effect sizes. In addition, there were no statistically significant univariate effects of these independent variables on the WRSI subscales. It should be noted that the small sample sizes for the single, non-parent, and unemployed groups for these independent variables likely contributed to the non-significant findings.

Table 11Multivariate Analysis of Variance of Women's Role Stress Inventory Subscales by Independent Variables

WRSI subscales by IVs	N	M	SD	F	p
Marital status					
WRSI Role Distress				.01	.913
Single	3	35.00	12.17		
Married / Living Together	78	28.83	11.41		
WRSI Role Enhancement				.00	.960
Single	3	34.33	10.07		
Married / Living Together	78	29.37	7.29		
WRSI Role Support				.01	.942
Single	3	21.00	5.20		
Married / Living Together	78	18.40	5.84		
Parental status					
WRSI Role Distress				2.26	.137
Not a parent	1	49.00	_	_,_0	1107
Parent	80	28.81	11.27		
WRSI Role Enhancement				3.21	.077
Not a parent	1	45.00	_	0.21	1077
Parent	80	29.36	7.23		
WRSI Role Support				1.60	.210
Not a parent	1	27.00		1.00	.210
Parent			- 5 77		
rarem	80	18.39	5.77		

WRSI subscales by IVs	N	M	SD	$\boldsymbol{\mathit{F}}$	p
Employment status					
WRSI Role Distress				.09	.770
Unemployed	2	26.50	20.51		
Employed	79	29.13	11.32		
WRSI Role Enhancement				.66	.420
Unemployed	2	33.50	16.26		
Employed	79	29.46	7.22		
WRSI Role Support				.79	.377
Unemployed	2	22.00	1.41		
Employed	79	18.41	5.85		

Note. Multivariate effect of marital status: F(3, 75) = .005, p = .999, $\eta^2 < .001$. Multivariate effect of parental status: F(3, 75) = 1.11, p = .352, $\eta^2 = .042$. Multivariate effect of employment status: F(3, 75) = 1.68, p = .178, $\eta^2 = .063$.

The three-way MANOVA on the WRSI, GAD 7, and PHQ 9 scales using the marital, parental, and employment status independent variables did not reveal any statistically significant multivariate effects. The results of these tests are shown in Table 12. Specifically, the multivariate effect of marital status, F(3, 76) = 1.39, p = .254, $\eta^2 = .052$; parental status, F(3, 76) = 2.35, p = .079, $\eta^2 = .085$; and employment status, F(3, 76) = .35, p = .788, $\eta^2 = .014$; did not show statistically significant effects or meaningful effect sizes. In addition, there were no statistically significant univariate effects of these independent variables on the WRSI, GAD-7, and PHQ-9 scales. It should be noted that the small sample sizes for the single, non-parent, and unemployed groups for these independent variables likely contributed to the non-significant findings.

Table 12Multivariate Analysis of Variance of Women's Role Stress Inventory, Anxiety, and Depression Scales by Independent Variables

DVs by IVs	N	M	SD	F	p
Marital status					
Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)				.00	.957
Single	3	90.33	27.02		
Married / Living Together	79	76.01	22.30		
Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ9)				2.64	.108
Single	3	4.33	5.86		
Married / Living Together	79	6.37	4.61		
General Anxiety Disorder (GAD7)				.41	.526
Single	3	4.67	1.53		
Married / Living Together	79	6.20	4.93		
Parental status					
Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI)				2.84	.096
Not a parent	1	121.00	-		
Parent	81	75.99	22.03		
Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ9)				3.14	.081
Not a parent	1	11.00	-		
Parent	81	6.23	4.63		
General Anxiety Disorder (GAD7)				.11	.741
Not a parent	1	6.00	-		
Parent	81	6.15	4.88		

DVs by IVs	N	M	SD	\boldsymbol{F}	p
Employment status Woman's Role Strain Inventory (WRSI) Unemployed	2	82.00	38.18	.15	.702
Employed	80	76.40	22.31		
Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ9) Unemployed Employed	2 80	6.50 6.29	2.12 4.68	.00	.967
General Anxiety Disorder (GAD7) Unemployed Employed	2 80	4.50 6.19	.71 4.90	.25	.622

Note. Multivariate effect of marital status: F(3, 76) = 1.39, p = .254, $\eta^2 = .052$. Multivariate effect of parental status: F(3, 76) = 2.35, p = .079, $\eta^2 = .085$. Multivariate effect of employment status: F(3, 76) = .35, p = .788, $\eta^2 = .014$.

Summary

In this chapter, the results of the data analyses were presented. Demographic information was calculated from 82 African American women participants. Sixty-five percent of the women had master's degrees. Ninety-nine percent of the women had children. Thirty-two percent of the women had one child, 29% had 2 or 3 children. Ninety-eight percent of the women were employed. Through Independent T-tests and Pearson's Product-Moment Correlations the analysis showed that none of the WRSI scales had statistically different means between the groups (Overall Strain, Role Distress, Role Enhancement, and Role Support). There were no group differences in strain between single and married/living together participants. There was no significance

between the number of children participants had and role strain at the .05 alpha level. The number of children was recorded into categorical variables with two groups: nonparent and parent. It was found that Overall, Role Distress, and Role Enhancement of the WRSI scales had statistically different means between groups at the .05 alpha level. The overall scale for mothers has significantly less role strain (M=75.9), SD=22.03) compared to non-parents (M=121.00), p<.05. The Role Distress subscale, parametric tests showed non-significance, the non-parametric test indicated a significant difference (p=.049), suggesting mothers have significantly less role strain (M=28.81, SD=11.27) compared to non-parents (M=49.00). The Role Enhancement subscale mothers have significantly less role strain (M=29.20, SD=7.33) compared to non-parents (M=45.00), p<.05. There was no significance in either parametric or non-parametric test in the Role Support subscale. The results indicate there is considerably more role strain for nonparents compared to parents. An independent T-test indicated there are no group differences in strain between single and married women. A correlation analysis indicated a statistically significant positive association with the PHQ-9 and severity measures at the .05 alpha level. The correlations were moderate to strong effect sizes (rs ranged from .332 to .558). The results suggested a positive relationship between depression and role strain. As the levels of depression increase, so does role strain and vice versa. A correlation analysis indicated statistically significant positive association with the GAD-7 and severity measures at the .05 alpha level. The correlations were moderate to strong (rs ranged from .349 to .543) the results suggested a positive relationship between anxiety and role strain. As the levels of anxiety increase, so does role strain and vice versa.

A number of tests were performed to establish and confirm the results as the number of participants in the study was small. The results of the study indicate that depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, is associated with levels of role strain, as measured by the WRSI. Anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, is associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI. Marital status and employment status were not associated with role strain, as measured by the WRSI. However, nonparent status has a significant association with role strain, as measured by the WRSI.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to assess the relationship between multiple roles, marital status, parental status, and employment status of college-educated African American women and the influence on their mental health as a result of role strain, as measured by the WRSI, GAD-7, and the PHQ-9. With women occupying additional roles without obligations in the home diminishing there is a need to review how women, specifically African American women, are experiencing stress with competing claims on their time (Ahmadifaraz, 2013). The RQs concerned the relationship between the independent variables (marital status, parental status, and employment status) and the dependent variables (role strain, depression, and anxiety).

Results indicated that there was a significantly positive correlation between depression and role strain as well as anxiety and role strain. Marital status and employment status were not associated with role strain. However, the participant who was not a parent reported more role strain than those participants who were parents, indicating that there is a difference between parental status (parent or nonparent) and role strain. This chapter provides the purpose of the study and the interpretation of the findings. The results will be summarized. The chapter addresses the limitations of the study, recommendations, and the gap in the research. It concludes with implications for positive social change and gives some direction for future research with the aim to eradicate the mental health disparities encountered by African American women who experience depression and anxiety while involved in multiple roles.

Interpretation of the Findings

There were three main findings of this study. The first was that marital status and employment status did not affect role strain. This finding is consistent with some of the existing literature that indicates that married and employed women typically experience positive emotions and less stress due to the lack of financial concerns. According to Campos (2013), marriage is beneficial to women's health and well-being. Typically, African American women do not see a conflict between mothering and employment the same as European American women do (Cureton et al, 2018). African American mothers tend to experience a more positive attitude when they combine working and mothering. Marital satisfaction is an important variable to consider when studying mothers with multiple roles. Low marital satisfaction should be associated with negative emotions. Waldron et al. (1998) found that being married had health benefits because it generally contributed to increased social support and financial resources. Employment outside the home generally increases income and improves access to health care and mental health (Bayat, 2022). These results are in accordance with existing literature on role strain, including Spinwall and Standinger (2014), who found there to be no significant difference in strain with employed women. The results of the study indicated there was no significant difference when associating marital status and employment status with role strain. According to Bradshaw (2014) individuals who were employed had access to additional resources that contributed to overall well-being.

Parental status was another important factor . The only nonparent participant showed a significant mean difference between parental status and role overall strain, role

distress, and role enhancement categories. This finding suggests that women without children are exposed to role strain. According to Bayat et al. (2022), having children does not increase the rate of stress and anxiety and may protect some women from depression. The more confident participating women felt as parents the less strain between work and family roles. According to Barnett (1994), poor marital or parental role quality has more of an effect on psychological distress than employment. When marital and parental experiences are positive, there is no significance between job experiences and psychological distress. However, when marital and parental relationships are negative there is a significant relationship between job experiences and distress (Thomas et al., 2017). Relationship strain may lead to a greater risk for depression and anxiety. Even though African American women in the study did not show a correlation of strain associated with parental, marital, and employment status, they often encounter stress from relationships that leads to health-compromising behaviors, research shows (Thomas et al., 2017).

The second finding from the study was that depression severity levels were associated with role strain, which is consistent with Cochran et al. (1999). These authors noted that married Black women of higher socioeconomic status may experience depression due to the attempts at achieving higher economic success in mainstream society. African American women who attempt to assimilate economically and socially may pay a high emotional price. Employed African American women often view being in the labor force as part of their identity. It improves their economic status and provides feelings of equality. (Woods-Giscombe, 2008). They are often discriminated against at

work and frequently hold positions that are not commensurate with their educational background. They are faced with subtle biases and microaggressions (Williams, et al. (2014). They are often viewed as holding a position only to supplement the family income rather than as a possible primary support making it difficult for upward mobility. African American women face double jeopardy as they are both female and minority, which may interfere with their economic opportunities. Interpersonal factors such as social support/kin networks are associated with lower levels of depression (Leach et al., 2008). However, greater social support or networks can provide more opportunity for negative experiences, which may lead to depression (Leach et al., 2008)

This study showed a significantly positive correlation between the PHQ-9 overall scores and PHQ-9 depression severity levels with role strain inventory overall scores and all subsequent role strain subscale scores. These results suggest that women with increased overall depression scores have higher role strain scores. The depression severity levels were also highly positively correlated with role strain scores. The PHQ-9 categorical severity level variables were based on the scale ranges from the PHQ-9 scoring instructions that define five ordinal categories of depression: minimal, mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression. There was a significant relationship between depression and overall role strain, role distress, role enhancement, and role support. Generally, women with higher levels of depression had statistically significantly higher strain (role distress, role enhancement, or role support). The role strain mean increased as the severity of depression increased. The results are in accordance with

Waldron et al.'s (1998) theory of role strain and depression where negative health effects of women's roles may lead to poorer health.

The third significant finding from the study was that levels of anxiety were associated with role strain. According to Comas-Diaz and Green (1994), being a double minority puts the participant at a higher risk of anxiety. Their conclusion is in accordance with Leach et al. (2008), who noted that interpersonal relationships create opportunities for depression and anxiety. Lewis (1989) observed that African American women may use their extended kin network such as friends, spouse, and religious community as a tool to manage or reduce role strain. However, these same networks can increase anxiety and stress if the relationship is negative or if the friend encounters negative experiences. African American women may feel the need to help others and take on multiple roles and responsibilities. They believe they should not disappoint those in their kin circle or let their guard down. They have been responsible for caring and nurturing their spouses, children and aging family members—all while doing so without the strategies to enable them to balance all the role responsibilities. Often African American women feel they are expected to be strong when in actuality they do not feel that way (Schiller, et al, 2012). According to Woods-Giscome (2020), feelings of obligation may cause distress because they are putting their own needs aside to tend to others.

This study showed a significantly positive correlation between levels of anxiety, as measured by the GAD-7, and role strain (overall strain and for all individual roles), suggesting that women with high levels of anxiety have high levels of role strain. The results contribute to the existing literature on role strain and anxiety. They expand on the

work of Barnett and Baruch (1985), who found that role strain and anxiety are modestly significantly related. In regard to parental status and years of marriage, there was a negative correlation on role enhancement, suggesting that children (regardless of the number) reduced overall stress. Children also reduced the levels of role enhancement stress. The longer a woman was marrie9d the levels of role enhancement stress decreased.

According to Watson and Hunter (2015), African American women are more likely to report feelings of sadness, hopelessness and worthlessness than women of other races. Income levels, educational attainment and exposure to life event stressors put them at a higher risk for depression and psychological distress (Woods-Giscombe et al. (2020). Issues such as internalized racism, microaggressions, emotional isolation and devaluation while trying to maintain cultural ethics of promoting toughness and self-sacrifice is challenging and creates contradictory feelings that cause chronic stress and trauma (Woods-Giscombe et al. (2008). African American women often internalize oppression from racism they experience on a daily basis. They may fear being unmasked as inferior by their White counterparts and, as a result, experience low self-esteem despite their success.

The null findings of marital, parental, and employment status being associated with role strain suggests other reasons for strain in African American women. Other studies suggest role strain can be effected by social and kin networks and not by parental status, marital status, and employment status (Thomas, 2015). When considering depression and anxiety being associated with role strain, the correlation analysis revealed

a significant finding. Based on other findings, many African American women present an image of strength, suppress emotions, and resist being vulnerable or dependent, which may result in anxiety and depression (Woods-Giscombe et al., 2016). Anxiety and depression may influence the way they respond to stressful situations or respond to questions relating to role strain.

Limitations of the Study

Limited current literature was available for this study. Most of the literature available regarding role strain was written in the 1980s and 1990s. It was as if role strain was a trend and not an ongoing interest of the academic and employment population.

The participants in many of the studies were limited to the majority population and not geared toward African American women and definitely not the educated African American woman.

The questionnaires used, WRSI, PHQ-9, and GAD-7 were answered by women at a single point in time, which reflects current role strain. However, the results of their strain may have changed over time. The questions on the Women's Working Role Strain Inventory may not be designed for educated African American women who have multiple roles. Historically African American women have had limited gender divided roles and expectations. There have been expectations for them to economically assist the household and hold down numerous responsibilities of the home. The role strain associated with depression and anxiety was not associated with children or marital status. Questions geared toward the emotions and culture of participants may need to be added to the questionnaire or make it a qualitative study to acquire additional information.

Even though the survey was posted online in numerous groups where educated African American women were members a small sample size resulted. With the number of participants there was even a smaller number of respondents who were unmarried or unemployed. A larger sample size may have produced more significant findings related to the dependent variables.

Recommendations

This study did not find a significant relationship between marital status and role strain. There was no significant association with the number of children and role strain. However, there was a significant difference between parental status of the only non-parent and role strain overall, role distress, and role enhancement. More research is warranted with non-parents as they scored significantly greater on the WRSI inventory overall categorically than women with children. The first recommendation for further study would be to capture a larger non-parent sample to have a better comparison of role strain between groups.

There was a significant correlation between depression and role strain and anxiety and role strain. It was found that 79% of the respondents had minimal/mild depression. If marriage or children are not associated with the depression in African American women what is? It would be interesting to find the causality of the role strain as it relates to the participants' depression and anxiety. Follow-up questions may be needed to address some of the answers the participants gave on the questionnaires. Discovering the cause of the anxiety and depression may assist in discovering the participants role strain.

More studies need to be done on African American mothers and depression.

Many of the previous studies have been of other groups. Investigating how the participant feels about her ability to perform her roles effectively (self-efficacy) may play into role strain. The quantitative cross-sectional design may not be the best approach for future studies as a causal relationship cannot be inferred from the findings.

Implications

White women are significantly more likely than Black women to report having experienced major depression within a 12-month time frame (almost 9% vs 5.5% respectively) and to have experienced a mood disorder at some point in their lives (almost 22% vs nearly 14% respectively) (Psychiatry Advisor, 2015). A. Many African American women are often found to practice the cultural behavior of "self-silencing", while internalizing emotions, which has been linked to depression and anxiety (Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2007). Social cultural differences between African American and White mothers may make a difference in the results of the questionnaires. The family dynamics of extended kin family networks may be different for African American mothers, and it may play a part in their mental health. Their responses to the questions on the Role Strain questionnaires may be different. According to Curenton et al. (2018) African American mothers have had a more positive attitude toward combining work and motherhood.

The results from this study may assist mental health initiatives, focused on educating African America women, of the association of role strain, anxiety and depression, along with identifying benefits, disadvantages of roles in their lives.

Moreover, enlightening mental health professionals and the community of cultural behaviors and making them aware of the association between role strain, anxiety, and depression. The results of this study revealed the only non-parent respondent had a higher statistically significant role strain score than the parent. Based on the percentage 3 of African American mothers with depression sharing this information with them may assist in removing the stigma associated with mental health problems. It may help them to acknowledge that anxiety and depression are not signs of weakness but may be response to stressors. This may encourage women to seek treatment prior to symptoms becoming too severe.

This study may assist with training mental health professionals who treat and have influence on women and improve communication with patients who are suffering silently due to cultural behaviors. The results suggest African American women with increased depression also had higher role strain scores. Moreover, women with increased anxiety scores had higher role strain scores. Mental health practitioners can become more aware of the possible interventions that would address anxiety and depression in educated African American women. There is a need for more dialogue with patients to be more aware of the causes of anxiety and depression in the lives of their patients. This study may encourage professionals and patients to have a clearer line of communication geared specifically toward anxiety and depression.

Conclusion

Women juggle many roles and competing demands. This study has not determined if the roles are beneficial or detrimental to educated African American

women's mental health. However, there is a relationship between depression and overall strain, role distress, role enhancement, and role support. There is also a relationship between anxiety and role strain. In conclusion, educated African American women with multiple roles may not be affected by the roles they are involved in but there are factors that are increasing depression and anxiety in these women who hold numerous roles.

References

- Ablin, J., Clauw, D., Lynden, A., Ambrose, K., Williams, D., Gracely, R., Glass, J. (2013). Effects of sleep restriction and exercise deprivation on somatic symptoms and mood in healthy adults. Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology, 31 (79), 53-59. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24373363/
- Adelman, P. (1994). Multiple roles and psychological well-being in a national sample of older adults. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(6), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/49.6.s277
- Afonso, P., Fonseca, M., & Pires, J. (2017). Impact of working hours on sleep and mental health. *Occupational Medicine*, 67, 377-382.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqx054
- Ahmadifaraz, M., Foroughipour, F. Abedi, H., Azarbarzin, M. Dehghani, L. Meamar, R. (2013). Anxiety of women employees and the process of maternal role.

 International Journal of Preventive Medicine, 4 (2), 262-269.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3678229/
- Ahrens, C., & Ryff, C. (2006). Multiple roles and well-being: Sociodemographic and psychological moderators. *Sex Roles*, *55*, 801–815. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-006-9134-8
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.; text rev.).
- Aneshensel, C., Frerichs, R., & Clark, A. (1981). Family roles and sex differences in depression. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 22(4), 379–393.

https://doi.org/10.2307/2136679

- Antai-Otong, D. (2002). Culturally sensitive treatment and African American related disorders. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services, 40(7), 14-21. https://doi.org/10.3928/0279-3695-20020701-09
- Anxiety Disorders Association of America. (2019). *Facts & statistics*. https://adaa.org/understanding-anxiety/facts-statistics
- Ashley, W. (2014). The angry Black woman: The impact of pejorative stereotypes on psychotherapy with Black women. *Social Work in Public Health*, 29(1), 27-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2011.619449
- Atkins, R. (2014). Validation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale in Black single mothers. *Journal of Nursing Measures*, 22(3), 511-524. https://doi.org/10.1891/1061-3749.22.3.511
- Autor, D., Katz, L., & Kearney, M. (2008). Trends in U.S. wage inequality: Revising the revisionists. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 90(2), 300-323. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest.90.2.300
- Baker, F.M. (2001). Diagnosing depression in African Americans. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 37(1), 31-33. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:102650321366
- Bandelow, B., & Michaelis, S. (2022). Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 327-335. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2015.17.3/bbandelow
- Banerjee, M., & Pyles, L. (2004). Spirituality: A source of resilience for African

 American women in the era of welfare reform. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural*

- Diversity in Social Work, 13(2), 45–70. https://doi.org/10.1300/j051v13n02_03
- Barnett, R. C., Brennan, R. T., & Marshall, N. L. (1994). Gender and the relationship between parent-role quality and psychological distress: A study of men and women in dual-earner couples. *Journal of Family Issues*, *15*(2), 229–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x94015002005
- Barnett, R. C., & Hyde, J. S. (2001). Women, men, work, and family: An expansionist theory. *American Psychologist*, *56*(10), 781–796. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.10.781
- Barnett, R. C., Marshall, N. L., & Singer, J. D. (1992). Job experiences over time, multiple roles, and women's mental health: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(6), 634–644. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.4.634
- Barr, A., Simons, R., & Simons, L. (2015). Nonmarital relationships and changing perceptions of marriage among African American young adults. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(5), 1202-1217. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12209
- Baruch, G. K., & Barnett, R. C. (1986). Role quality, multiple role involvement and psychological well-being in midlife women. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(3), 578–585. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.3.578
- Bayat, F., Ozgoli, G., Mahmoodi, Z., & Nasiri, M. (2022). A comparative study of depression, stress, and anxiety in two groups of women with and without children:
 A population-based study. *Iranian Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Infertility*, 25(7), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.22038/ijogi.2022.21135

- Beauboeuf-Lafontant, T. (2009). *Behind the mask of the strong Black woman*. Temple University Press.
- Beck, A. T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *56*(6), 893–897. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.56.6.893
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). *Beck depression inventory-II*. Harcourt Brace.
- Benard, S., & Correll, S. (2010). Normative discrimination and the motherhood penalty.

 Gender and Society, 24(5), 616–646. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243210383142.
- Bradshaw, J. (2004). Subjective well-being and social policy: can nations make their children happier? Child Indicator Research, 8(1),227-241.

 https://doi:10.1007/s12187-014-9283-1
- Braithwaite, S. & Holt-Lunstad, J. (2017). Romantic relationships and Mental Health.

 *Current Opinion in Psychology, 13, 120-125.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.04.001
- Breslau, J., Gaxiola-Aguilar, S., Su, M., Williams, D., & Kessler, R. (2006). Specifying race-ethnic differences in risk for psychiatric disorder in a USA national sample. *Psychological Medicine*, 36(1), 57–68.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291705006161
- Bromberger, J. T., Harlow, S., Avis, N., Kravitz, H., & Cordal, A. (2004). Racial/ethnic differences in the prevalence of depressive symptoms among middle-aged women: The study of women's health across the nation (SWAN). *American*

- Journal of Public Health, 94(8), 1378–1385. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.94.8.1378
- Bronder, E., Speight, S., & Thomas, A. (2013). John Henryism, depression, and perceived social support in Black women. Journal of Black Psychology, 40(2), 115-212. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798412474466
- Browman, C. L. (1991). Gender, work-family roles, and psychological well-being of Blacks. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *53*(2), 509–519. https://doi.org/10.2307/352916
- Brown Speights, J., Nowakowski, A., De Leon, J., Mitchell, M., & Simpson, I. (2017).

 Engaging African American women in research: an approach to eliminate health disparities in the African American community. Family Practice, 34 (3), 322-329.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/fampr/cmx026
- Cairney, J., Boyle, M., Offord, D., & Racine, Y. (2003). Stress, social support, and depression in single and married mothers. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 38(8), 442–449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-003-0661-0
- Campos, B. Wang, S. Plaksina, T., Repetti, R.I,. Schoebi, D., Ochs, E., & Beck, M. (2013). Positive and negative emotions in the daily life of dual-earner couples with children. Journal of Family Psychology, 27 (1), 76-85.

 https://doi.org.10.1037/a0031413
- Caplan, P., & Hall-McCorquodale, I. (1985). The scapegoating of mothers: A call for change among middle-aged women. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 55, 610–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025. 1985.tb02711.x

- Carr, M.D. (2013). Local area inequality and worker well-being. Review of Social Economy, 71 (1), 44-64. http://doi.org/10.1080100346764.2012.707399
- Carrington, C. (2006). Clinical depression in African American women. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(7), 779–791. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20289
- Carter, S. Walker, R., Cutrona, C., Simons, R., & Beach, S. (2016). Anxiety mediates perceived discrimination and health in African American women. American Journal of Health Behavior, 40 (6), 697-704. https://dx.doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.40.6.2
- Chang, E.C. (2018). Relationship between loneliness and symptoms of anxiety and depression in African American men and women: Evidence for gender as a moderator. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.08
- Cheak-Zamora, N., Wyrwich, K., & McBride, T. (2009). Reliability and validity of the SF-12V2 in the medical expenditure panel survey. *Quality of Life Research*, 18(6), 727–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-009-9483-1
- Chen, I. Brown, R. Bowers, B., & Chang, W. (2015). Work to family conflict as a mediator of the relationship between job satisfaction and turnover intention.

 Journal of Advanced Nursing, 71 (10), p2221-2455.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12706
- Cleary, P., & Mechanic, D. (1983). Sex differences in psychological distress among married people. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 24(2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.2037/2136638
- Cochran, D., Brown, D., & McGregor, K. (1999). Racial differences in the multiple

- social roles of older women: Implications for depressive symptoms. *The Genealogist*, *39*(4), 465–472. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/39.4.
 Experimentation: Design and Analysis 465
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis.

 *Psychological Bulletin, 98(2), 310–357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310
- Comas-Diaz, L., & Greene, B. (1994). Overview: An ethnocultural mosaic. In L. Comas-Diaz & B. Greene (Eds.), *Woman of Color* (pp. 3–9). Guilford Press.
- Cook, T.D. & Campbell, D.T. (1979). Quasi Experimentation: Design and Analysis

 Issues for Field Settings. Chicago: Rand McNally
- Cooklin, A. R., Dinh, H., Strazdins, L., Westrupp, E., Leach, L. S., & Nicholson, J. M. (2016). Change and stability in work-family conflict and mothers' and fathers' mental health: Longitudinal evidence from an Australian cohort. *Social Science and Medicine*, *155*, 24-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soccscimed.2016.02.036
- Correll, S. J., Benard, S., & Paik, I. (2007). Getting a job: Is there a motherhood penalty?

 *American Journal of Sociology, 112, 5. https://doi.org/10.1086/511799
- Council, L. (2021). Marriage matters for Black middle-class women: A review of Black American marriages work, and family. Sociology Compass, 15(11), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12934
- Coverman, S. (1989). Role overload, role conflict and stress: Addressing consequences of multiple role demands. *Social Forces*, 67(4) 964-982

 https://doi:10.1093/sf/67.4.965

- Curenton, S., Crowley, J., & Mouzon, D. (2018). Qualitative descriptions of middleclass, African American mothers' child-rearing practices and values. *Journal of Family Issues*, 39(4), 868-895. https://doi.org./0.1177/0192513X16683984
- Curphey, S. (2003). Black women's mental health needs go unmet. *Women's E-News*. https://womensenews.org/2003/06/black-women-mental-health-needs-unmet/
- Dalgard, O., Dowrick, C., Lehtinen, V., Vazquez-Barquero, J., Casey, P., Wilkinson, G., Ayuso-Mateos, J., Page, H., & Dunn, G. (2006). Negative life events, social support and depression, with special focus on gender differences. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41(6), 444–451.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-006-0051-5
- Dean, P. Marsh, K., & Landry, B. (2013). Cultural contradiction or integration? Workfamily schemas of Black middle-class mothers. *Notions of Family: Intersectional Perspectives. Advances in Gender Research*, *17*, 137-158. https://doi.org/10.1108/s1529-2126(2013)0000017010
- Dibaji, M.S., Oreyzi, S.H.R., & Abedi, M.R. (2017). Occupation or home: Comparison housewives and working women in the variables of stress, depression and perception of quantitative, mental and emotional home demands. *Review of European Studies*, 9 (2), 268-274. https://doi.org/10.5539/res.v9n2p268
- Dozier, R. (2010). The declining relative status of Black women workers, 1980-2002. 3Social Forces, 88 (4),1833-1857. https://doi:10.1353/sof.2010.0072
- Duxbury, L., Stevenson, M., & Higgins, C. (2018). Too much to do, too little time: Role overload and stress in a multi-role environment. *International Journal of Stress*

- Management, 25(3), 250–266. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/str0000062
- Erdogan, I. Ozcelik, H., & Bagger, J. (2021) Roles and work-family conflict: how role salience and gender come into play. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(8), 1778-1800.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1588346
- Escriba-Aguir, V., & Tenias-Burillo, J. M. (2004). Psychological well-being among hospital personnel: The role of family demands and psychosocial work environment. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 77(6), 401–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-004-0525-2
- Fan, G., & Frisbie, W. (2009). How do multiple roles affect young and middle-aged women's health? The impacts of employment and family roles. *Journal of Population Studies*, 38, 33–65. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136300
- Fokkema, T. (2002). Combining a job and children: Contrasting the health of married and divorced women in the Netherlands. *Social Science and Medicine*, *54*(5), 741–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00106-x
- Frame, M., Williams, C., & Green, E. (1999). Balm in Gilead: Spiritual dimensions in counseling African American women. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 27(4), 182–192. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.1999.tb00334.x
- Frech, A., Damaske, S. (2012). The relationship between mothers' work pathways and physical and mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 53(4), 396-412. https://doi:10.1177/002214651245329

- Friedman, S., Braunstein, J.W., & Halpern, B. (2002). Cognitive behavioral treatment of panic disorders and agoraphobia in a multiethnic urban outpatient clinic: Initial presentation and treatment outcome. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practices*, 13(4), 282-292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2006.04.009
- Frone, M. R. (2000). Work-family conflict and employee psychiatric disorders: The national comorbidity survey. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(6), 888–895. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.6.888
- Gazmararian, J., James, S., & Lepkowski, J. (1995). Depression in Black and White women. The role of marriage and socioeconomic status. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 5(6), 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/1047-2797(95)00061-5
- Girgus, J., & Yang, K. (2015). Gender and depression. Current Opinion in Psychology. Science Direct, 4, 53-60. https://doi.10.1016/jcopsyc.2015.01.019
- Glynn, K. MacLean, H., Forte, T., & Cohen, M. (2009). The association between role overload and women's mental health. *Journal of Women's Health*, *18*(2), 217–23. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2007.0783
- Goode, W. (1960). A theory of role strain. *American Sociological Review*, 25, 483–496. https://doi.org/10.2307/2092933
- Gordon, J., Pruchno, R., & Wilson-Genderson, M. (2012). Balancing caregiving and work: Role conflict and role strain dynamics. *Journal of Family Issues*, *33*(5), 662–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X11425322
- Gore, S., & Mangione, T. (1983). Social roles, sex roles and psychological distress:

 Addictive and interactive models of sex differences. *Journal of Health and Social*

- Behavior, 24(4), 300–312. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136397
- Gove, W. R., & Geerkin, M. R. (1977). The effect of children and employment on the mental health of married men and women. *Social Forces*, *56*, 66–76. https://doi.org/10.2307/2577413
- Gove, W. R., & Hughes M. (1981). Beliefs vs. data: More on the illness behavior of men and women. A reply to Marcus and Seeman. *American Sociological Review*, 46, 123–128. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095032
- Gove, W. R., Hughes, M., & Style, C. (1983). Does marriage have positive effects on the psychological well-being of the individual. *Journal of Health and Social*Behavior, 24, 122–131. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136639
- Gove, W. R., & Lester, B. (1974). Social position and self-evaluation: A reanalysis of the Yancy, Rigsby, and McCarthy data. *Journal of Sociology*, 79, 1308–1314. https://doi.org/10.1086/225681
- Gove, W. R., & Tudor, J. F. (1973). Adult sex roles and mental illness. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78, 812–835. https://doi.org/10.1086/225404
- Hamilton-Mason, J., Hall, J., & Everett, J. (2009). And some of us are braver: Stress and coping among African American women. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 19(5), 463–482.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10911350902832142
- Home, A. (1996). Learning the hard way. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *33*(2), 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.1997.10778874
- Home, A. (1998). Predicting role conflict, overload, and contagion in adult women

- university students with families, and jobs. *Adult and Education Quarterly*, 48 (2), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/074171369804800204
- Hong, J., & Mailick-Seltzer, M. (1995). The psychological consequences of multiple roles: The nonnormative case. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *36*(4) 386–398. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137327
- hooks, b. (1993). Sisters of the yam: Black women and self-recovery. South End Press
- IBM Corporation Releases 2020. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.

 Armonk, NY: IBM Corp
- Irby-Shasanmi, A. (2012). Predictors of subjective life expectancy among African Americans. *Research on Aging*, *35*, 322-347. https://doi:10.1177/0164027512442945
- Jack, D.C. & Ali, A. (2010). Silencing the self across culture: Depression and gender in the social world. Oxford University Press.
- Jackson, A. (1992). Well-being among single, Black, employed mothers. *Social Service Review*, 66, 399–409. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30012467
- Jackson, A., Gyami, P., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Blake, M. (1998). Employment status, psychological well-being, social support, and physical discipline practices of single Black mothers. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 50, 894–902. https://doi.org/10.2307/353632
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2000). Educational research: Quantitative and Qualitative approaches. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Jones, C., & Shorter-Gooden, K. (2004). Shifting: The double lives of Black women in

- America. Harper Collins.
- Jones, J. (1985). Labor of love, labor of sorrow: Black women, work, and the family from slavery to the present. Vintage Books.
- Kahn, R. L., Wolfe, D. M., Quinn, R. P., Snoer, J. D., & Rosenthal, R. A. (1964).

 Organizational stress: Studies in role conflict and ambiguity. New Yok. Wiley.
- Kasen, S., Cohen, P., Chen, H., & Castille, D. (2003). Depression in adult women: Age changes and cohort effects. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 12.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.93.12.2061
- Katz, M., Piotrkowski, C. (1983). Correlates of family role strain among employed Black women. Family Relations, 32, 331-339. https://doi.org/10.2307/584610
- Keith, P., & Schafer, R. (1980). Role strain and depression in two job families. Family Relations, 29, 483-488. https://doi.org/10.2307/584462
- Kessler, R. (2003). Epidemiology of women and depression *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 74(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0165-0327(02)00426-3
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Heeringa, S., Hiripi, E., Jin, R.,
 Pennell, B. E., Walters, E. E., Zaslavsky, A., & Aheng, H. (2004). The USA
 National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R): Design and field procedures.
 International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research, 13, 69–92.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.167
- Kessler, R., & McRae, J. (1982). The effect of wives' employment on the mental health of married men and women. *American Sociological Review*, 47(2), 216–227. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094964

- Kiecolt, K., & Fossett, M. (1995). Mate availability and marriage among African

 American: Aggregate and individual-level analysis. In M. Tucker & C. Mitchell
 Kernan (Eds.), *The decline in marriage among African Americans*. (pp. 121–135).

 Russell Sage Foundation.
 - https://www.proquest.com/docview/219759983/fulltextPDF/717C365810F04C26 PQ/1?accountid=14872
- Kostiainen, E., Martelin, T., Kestila, L., Martikainen, P., & Koskinen, S. (2009).
 Employee, partner, and mother: Woman's three roles and their implications for health. *Journal of Family Issues*, 30(8), 1122–1151.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X08329597
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R., & Williams, J. (2001). *The Patient Health Questionnaire* (*PHQ*). New York. Pfizer Pharmaceuticals.
- Kulik, L., Shilo-Levin, S., & Liberman, G. (2014). Multiple roles, role satisfaction, and sense of meaning in life: An extended examination of role enrichment theory.

 Sage Journals, 23 (1), 137-151. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072714523243
- Kulik, L., Shilo-Levin, S., & Liberman, G. (2016) Work-family role conflict and well-being among women and men. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 24(4), 651–668. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072715616067
- Landry, B. (2000). *Black working wives: Pioneers of the American family revolution*.

 University of California Press.
- Lee, K. J., Um, C. C., & Kim, S. (2004). Multiple roles of married Korean women: Effect on depression. *Sex Roles*, *51*, 469–478.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:SERS.0000049235.60839.ef

- Lee, N., Zvonkovic, A., & & Brand, C. (2019). Psychosocial factors associated with symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress among single mothers and young children: a population-based study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 242, 255-264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.013
- Littlefield, M. (2003). Gender role identity and stress in African American women.

 **Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 8(4), 93–104.

 https://doi.org/10.1300/J137v08n04_06
- Maclean, H., Glynn, K., & Ansara, D. (2004). Multiple roles and women's mental health in Canada. *BMC Women's Health*, 4(Suppl1): S3–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6874-4-S1-S3
- Maninder, S. (2016). Methodology series Module 3: Cross-sectional studies. Indian Journal of Dermatology, 61(3):261-264. https://doi.org/10.4103/019-5154
- Martin, A., Boadi, N., Fernandes, C., Watt, S., & Robinson-Wood, T. (2013). Applying resistance theory to depression in black women. Journal of Systemic Therapies, 32(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1521/jsyt.2013.32.1.1
- Martikainen, P. (1995). Women's employment, marriage, motherhood and mortality: A test of the multiple role and role accumulation hypothesis. *Social Science and Medicine*, 40(2), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(94)E0065-Z
- Martire, L., Stephens, M., & Townsend, A. (2000). Centrality of women's multiple roles:

 Beneficial and detrimental consequences for psychological well-being.

 Psychology and Aging, 15(1), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-

7974.15.1.148

- McBride, A. B. (1990). Mental health effects of women's multiple roles. *American Psychologist*, 45(3), 381–384. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.45.3.381
- McDaniel, A., DiPrete, T., Buchmann, C., & Shwed, U. (2011). The Black gender gap in educational attainment: Historical trends and racial comparisons. Demography, 48:889-914. https://doi.org/10.1007/s/13524-011-0037-0
- McKay, R. (2007, February). A Black community with advanced labor force characteristics in 1960. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. *Monthly Labor Review*. https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=814f3eb7-8bb4-4716-967e-d766d411b8bf%40redis
- Meisenhelder, J. (1986). Self-esteem in women: The influence of employment and perception of husbands' appraisals. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 18(1), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1986.tb00532.x
- National Center for Education Statistics, United States Department of Education, Table

 321.20 https://nces.edgov/fastfacts/display
- Neal-Barnett, A. (2003). Soothe your nerves: The Black woman's guide to understanding and overcoming anxiety, panic, and fear. Fireside.

 https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=7&sid=814f3eb7-8bb4-4716-967e-d766d411b8bf%40redis
- Neal-Barnett, A., & Crowther, J. (2000). To be female, middle class, anxious, and Black.

 Psychology of Women Quarterly, 24, 129-136.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2000.tb00193.x

- Neal-Barnett, A. M., Stadulis, R., Payne, M. R., Crosby, L., Mitchell, M., Williams, L., & Williams-Costa, C. (2011). In the company of my sisters: Sister circles as an anxiety intervention for professional African American women. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 129, 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.08.024
- Neighbors, H. W., Caldwell, C., Williams, D. R., Nesse, R., Taylor, R. J., Bullard, K. M., & Jackson, J. S. (2007). Race, ethnicity, and the use of services for mental disorders: Results from the National Survey of American Life. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64, 485–4994. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.64.4.485
- Nelson, T., Ernst, S., Tirado, C., Fisse, J., & Moreno O.(2022). Psychological distress and attitudes toward seeking professional psychological services among Black women: the role of past mental health treatment. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 9, 527-537. https://doi:10.1007/s40615-021-00983-z
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1990). Sex differences in depression. Stanford University Press.
- Ohayashi, H., & Yamada, S. (2012). Psychological distress: Symptoms, causes, and coping .New York. NovaScience Publishers, Inc.
- Ollo-Lopez, A., & Goni-Legaz, S. (2017). Differences in work-family conflict: Which individual and national factors explain them? *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28 (3), 499-525. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1118141
- Panda, S., & Chettri, T. M. (2015). A comparative study of anxiety level of working and non-working mothers. *Indian Journal of Health and Wellbeing*, 6 (12), 1199-

- 1202. http://www.iahrw.com/index.php/home/journal.detail/19#list
- Pavlova, M.K. & Sibereisen, R.K. (2012). Age, cumulative (dis)advantage, and subjective well-being in employed and unemployed Germans: a moderated mediation model. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology.* 17 (1), 93-104. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026426
- Perrewe, P. L., & Hochwater, W. A. (2001). Can we really have it all? The attainment of work and family values. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10(1), 29–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00108
- Platt, J., Bates, L., Jager, J., McLaughlin, K., & Keyes, K. (2020). Changes in the depression gender gap 1992 to 2014: Cohort effects and mediation by gendered social position. *Social Science and Medicine*, 258(1-9). https://doi.org/10.I016/socscimed.2020.113088
- Psychiatry Advisor (2015). Black women less likely than White women to report

 depression. https://www.psychiatryadvisor.com/home/topics/mooddisorders/black-women-less-likely-than-white-women-to-report-depression/
- Ranning, A., Laursen, T., Thorup, A., Hjorthoj, C., & Nordentoft, M. (2016) Children of parents with serious mental illness: with whom do they grow up? A prospective population-based study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 55(11), 953-961.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2016.07.776
- Rao, K., Apte, M., & Subbakrishna, D. K. (2003). Coping and subjective wellbeing in women with multiple roles. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 49(3),

- 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1177/00207640030493003
- Ray, R., & Jackson, P. (2013). Intersectionality and work-family balance. *Notions of Family: Intersectional Perspectives Advances in Gender* Research, 17, 241-262. https://doi.org/10.1108/s1529-2126(2013)0000017014
- Reid, J., & Hardy, M. (1999). Multiple roles and well-being among midlife women:

 Testing role strain and role enhancement theories. Journal of Gerontology: Social

 Sciences. 54B (6), S329-S338. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/54B.6.S329
- Repetti, R. L., Matthews, K. A., & Waldron, I. (1989). Employment and women's health: Effects of paid employment on women's mental and physical health. *American Psychology*, 44, 1394–1401. https://doi.org/10.1037
- Reskin, B., & Coverman, S. (1985). Sex and race in the determinants of psychophysical distress: A reappraisal of the sex-role hypothesis. *Social Forces*, *63*(4), 1038–1059. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/63.4.1038
- Robinson, L., Magee, C., & Caputi, P. (2018). Sole mothers in the workforce: A systematic review and agenda for future work-family research. *Journal of Family Theory and Review*, 10, 280-303. https://doi:10.111/iftr.12249
- Rose, D. (2016). Keys that jingle and fold: Federal student aid and the expansion of educational opportunity for Black women. Journal of Women, Politics and Policy, 38(3), 363-384. https://doi:10.1080/1554477x.2016.1219592
- Rothbara, N.P. (2001). Enriching or depleting? The dynamics or engagement in work and family roles. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 46 (4), 655. https://doi.org/10.2307/3094827

- Roxburgh, S. (2004). There just aren't enough hours in the day: The mental health consequences of time pressure. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*. 45(2), 115–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/002214650404500201
- Rozario, P. A., & DeRienzis, D. (2008). Familism beliefs and psychological distress among African American women caregivers. *The Gerontologist*, 48(6), 772–780. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/48.6.772
- Schiller, J. S., Lucas, J. W., Ward, B. W., & Peregoy J. A. (2012). Summary health statistics for U.S. adults: National Health Interview Survey, 2010 (Report No. 10).

 National Center for Health Statistics. U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Scholtens, B., & Dam, L. (2007). Cultural values and international differences in business ethics. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 75, 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/sl0551-006-9252-9
- Sedgwick, P. (2014). Cross sectional studies: advantages and disadvantages. British Medical Journal, 348, 2276.
- Sellers, I. H., Sellers, R. M., & Damas, A. (2002). One role or two? The function of psychological separation in role conflict. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(3), 574–582. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.87.3.574
- Sinha, S. (2017). Multiple roles of working women and psychological well-being.

 Industrial Psychiatric Journal, 26(2), 171-177.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj 70 16:10.4103/ipj.ipj 70 16
- Shambaugh, J., Nunn, R., Liu P., & Nantz, G. (2017). Thirteen facts about wage growth.

 9 Economic Facts. The Hamilton Project. Washington, D.C., Brookings.

www.hamilitonproject.org

- Sharma, S. (1999). Multiple roles and women's health: A multi-linear model. *Equal Opportunities International*, 18(8), 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610159910785682
- Sherrill, J. T., Anderson, B., Frank, E., Reynolds, C. F. 3rd, Tu, X. M., Patterson D.,
 Ritenour, A. & Kupfer, D. J. (1997). A. Depression and Anxiety, 6(3), 95–105.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6394(1997)6:3<95::AID-DA2>3.0.CO;2-4
- Sieber, S. D. (1974). Toward a theory of role accumulation. *American Sociological Review*, 39(4), 567–578. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094422
- Simon, R. W. (1995). Gender, multiple roles, roles meaning, and mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *36*(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137224
- Simon, R. W. (1997). The meanings individuals attach to role identities and their implication for mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *38*, 256–274. https://doi.org/10.2307/2955370
- Sinha, S. (2017). Multiple roles of working women and psychological well-being.

 Industrial Psychiatric Journal, 26 (2), 171-177.

 https://doi:10.4103/ipj.ipj 70 16:10.4103/ipj.ipj 70 16
- Skinner, D. (1980). Dual career family stress and coping: A literature review. *Family Relations*, 29(4), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.2307/584461
- Snowden, L., & Pingitore, D. (2001). Frequency and scope of mental health science delivery to African Americans in primary care. *Mental Health Services Research*, 4(3), 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1019709728333

- Sohail, Z., Bailey, R.K., & Richlie, W.D. (2014). Misconceptions of depression in African Americans. Front Psychiatry, 5 (65). https://doi.10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00065
- Spitzer, R., Kroenke, K., Williams, J., & Lowe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The generalized anxiety disorder-7. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166 (10), 1092-1097.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Stein,R. (2005). Race gap persists in healthcare, Three studies say: Blacks get fewer tests, less therapy and medicine. Washington Post, Aug 18. p. A1.
- Stevenson, H., Chen, C., & Uttal, D. (1990). Beliefs and achievement: A study of Black, White, and Hispanic children. *Child Development*, 61(2), 508–523. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02796.x
- Stiver, I., & Miller, J. (1998). From depression to sadness in women's psychopathology.

 Stone Center Working Paper Series.
- Strickland, W. J. (1992). Institutional emotion norms and role satisfaction: Examination of a career wife population. *A Journal of Research*, 26(9-10), 423–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00291552
- Sue, D., Sue, D., & Sue, S. (2010). *Understanding abnormal behavior*. Boston. Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Sumra, M., & Schillaci, M. (2015). Stress and the multiple-role woman: Taking a closer look at the "superwoman". Plus One Journal, 10(3). http://doi.org/10.137/journal.pone.0120954

- Thoits, P. A. (1983). Multiple identities and psychological well-being: A reformulation and test of the social isolation hypothesis. *American Sociological Review*, 48(2), 174–187. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095103
- Thoma9s, A.J., Witherspoon, K.M., & Speight, S.L. (2008), Gender racism, psychological distress, and coping styles of African American women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *14*(4), *307-314*. https://doi.org/10.10037/1099-9809.14.4.307
- Thomas, P.A. (2016). The impact of relationship-specific support and strain on depressive symptoms across the life course. Journal of Aging and Health, 28, 363-382. https://doi:10.1177/08-264315591004
- Tiedje, L. B., Wortman, C. B., Downey, G., Emmons, C., Biernat, M., & Lang, E. (1990).

 Women with multiple roles: Role-compatibility perceptions, satisfaction, and mental health. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *52*, 63–72.

 https://doi.org/10.2307/352838
- Tsang, E. (2014). Generalizing from research findings: The merits of case studies.

 International Journal of Management Reviews, 16, 369-383.

 https://doi.org:10.1111/ijmr.12024
- Turner, C. W. (1997). Clinical applications of the Stone Center theological approach to minority women. In J. V. Jordon (Ed.), *Women's growth in diversity* (pp. 74–90). Guilford.
- Tweed, D., & Jackson, D. (1981). Psychiatric disorder and gender: A logit analysis. Social Forces, 59(4), 1200–1216. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/59.4.1200

- United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. *The employment situation: Washington 2007-2010.* https://bls.gov/cps/cps_aa2010.htm
- United States Census Bureau (2018).
 - $\underline{https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=population\%\,20of\%\,20}$
 - African%20Americans&tid=ACSDT1Y2018.B15002B&hidePreview=false
- United States Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration (2001). https://censusgov/prod/cen2000/doc.sf/.pdf
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2001). *Mental health: Culture,*race, and ethnicity- A supplement to mental health: A report of the Surgeon
 General-Executive Summary. USDHHS Public Health Service, Office of the
 Surgeon General.
 - http://www.nami.org/content/navigationmenu/Mental Illness/women and depres sion/african_american_women.pdf
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2010). *National healthcare disparities report. Table 17_3_1.26* http://www.ahrq.gov/qal/qrdr10/index.html
- Verbrugge, L. M. (1983). Multiple roles and physical health of women and men. *Journal* of Health and Social Behavior, 24(1), 16–30. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136300
- Viertio, S., Kiviruusu, O., Piirtola, M., Kaprio, J, Korhonen, T., Marhunen, M., & Suvisaari, J. (2021). Factors contributing to psychological distress in the working population, with a special reference to gender difference. BMC Public Health, 21:611,1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10560-y
- Virtanen, M., Ferrie, J., Singh-Manoux, A., Shipley, M., Stanfield, S., Marmot, M.,

- Ahola, K., Vahtera, J., & Kivimaki, M. (2011). Long working hours and symptoms of anxiety and depression: a 5-year follow-up of the Whitehall II study. Psychological Medicine, 41,2485-2494. https://doi:10.1017/S0033291711000171
- Waldron, I., & Herold, J. (1986). Employment, attitudes toward employment, and women's health. *Women and Health*, 11, 79–98. https://doi.org/10.2307/2676314
- Waldron, I., & Jacobs, J. (1989). Effects of multiple roles on women's health-evidence from a national longitudinal study. *Women and Health*, *15*, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1300/J013V15n01_02
- Waldron, I., Weiss, C., & Hughes, M. E. (1998). Interacting effects of multiple roles on women's health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 39(3), 216–236. https://doi.org/10.2307/2676314
- Wallace, P., Malveaux, J., & Datcher, L. (1980). *Black women in the labor force*. MIT Press.
- Ward, E., Wiltshire, J. & Detry M., Brown, R. (2013). African American men and women's attitude toward mental illness, perceptions of stigma, and preferred coping behaviors. *Nursing Research*, 62(3), 185-194.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e31827bf533
- Watson, N. N., & Hunter, C. D. (2015). Anxiety and depression among African American women: The cost of strength and negative attitudes toward

- psychological help-seeking. *Clinical Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 21(4), 604–612. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000015
- Wiggins-Frame, M., Braun-Williams, C., & Green, E. (1999). Balm in Gilead: Spiritual dimensions in counseling African American women. *Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 27(4), 182–192. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.1999.tb00334.x
- Williams, D. (1999). Race, socioeconomic status, and health: The added effects of racism and discrimination. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 896, 173–188. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08114.x
- Williams, S., Dilworth-Anderson, P., & Goodwin, P. (2003). Caregiving role strain: The contribution of multiple roles and available resources in African American women. Aging and Mental Health.7(2),103-112.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1360786031000072312
- Williams, S., Malcoun, E., Sawyer, B., Davis, D., Nouri, L., & Bruce, S. (2014). Cultural adaptations of prolonged exposure therapy for treatment and prevention of posttraumatic stress disorders. African American Behavioral Sciences, 4, 102-124. https://doi:10.3390/bs4020102
- Williams, T. (2008). Black pain. It just looks like we're not hurting. Simon & Schuster.
- Windsor, T., Rioseco, P. Fiori, K., Curtis, R., & Booth, H. (2016). *International Psychogeriatric*, 28(1), 49-61. https://doi:10.1017/s1041610215001143
- Winkle-Wagner, R. (2015). Having their lives narrowed down? The state of Black women's college success. *Review of educational research*. 85(2), 171-204.

https://doi:10.3102/0034654314551065

- Woods-Giscombe, C. L. (2010). Superwoman schema: African American women's views on stress, strength, and health. *Qualitative Health Research*, 20(688), 668–677. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732310361892
- Woods-Giscombe, C. L. (2015). Whose stress is making me sick? Network-stress and emotional distress in African American women. Issues Mental Health Nursing, 36(9), 710-717. https://doi:10.3109/01612840.2015.1011759
- Woods-Giscombe, C. & Lobel, M. (2008). Race and gender matter: A multidimensional approach to conceptualizing and measuring stress in African American women.

 Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 14(3). 173-182.

 https://doi:10.1037/1099-9809.14.3.173
- Wyatt, L. (2011). Nontraditional student engagement: Increasing adult student success and retention. The Journal of Continuing Higher Education, 59:1,10-20. https://doi:10.1080.07377363.2011.544977
- Xu,X., Peng,Y., Zhao, P., Hayes, R., & Jimenez, W. (2019). Fighting for time: spillover and crossover effects of long work hours among dual-earner couples. Stress & Health: Journal of International society for the Investigation of Stress, 35 (4), 491-502. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2882
- Yang, C., Lengacher, C., Beckstead, J., & Shiau, S. (2008). The women's role strain inventory: A Chinese translation and psychometric analyses for Taiwanese women. International Journal of nursing studies, 45 (1) 85-94.
 https://doi:10.1016/J.IJNUR.STU.2006.07.023

- Zamarripa, M. X., Wampold, B. E., & Gregory, E. (2003). Male gender role conflict, depression, and anxiety: Clarification and generalizability to women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *50*, 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.50.3.333
- Zhou, S., Da, S., Guo, H., & Ahang, X. (2018). Work-family conflict and mental health among female employees: A sequential mediation model via negative affect and perceived stress. Organizational Psychology, 9.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00544
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52, 30–41. https://doi.org/10.1037/t59567-000

Appendix A: Introduction Letter

The Effects of Multiple Roles on Educated African American Women ELIGIBILITY: Be part of an important quantitative research study

- Are you an African American woman with a bachelor's degree or greater?
- Are you between 25 and 55 years of age?
- Do you participate in at least three roles (e.g., mother, spouse, employee, entrepreneur, student, caregiver, volunteer)?
- Do you have at least one child under the age of 18 years old?
 If you answered YES to the above questions, you may be eligible to participate in this research study.

The purpose of this study is to determine how multiple roles and role strain may affect the African American college-educated woman.

Your participation in this research is voluntary. As a participant in this study, you will be asked to answer a number of questions about your health, the roles in which you participate, recent feelings, and your support system. The survey will take less than a half an hour to complete. Your participation is completely confidential and anonymous.

Your time is very much appreciated. If you are interested, please click the link below or send an email to [redacted] to request a hard copy.

CONTACT INFORMATION: This study is being conducted by Andrea Alston-Brundage a Ph.D. student at Walden University. If you have any questions, you may contact the researcher via phone at [redacted], or email at [redacted]mailto:. If you want

to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss your concerns. Her phone number is [redacted]. Walden University's approval number for this study is 07-06-22-0032350, and it expires on September 20, 2022.

 $\underline{https://multiplerolesaaw22.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_d6XKh8N9kpJjEc6}$

Appendix B: Demographic Survey

Please complete the information in the attached survey. This portion of the survey will assist me in understanding general characteristics of the participants in the study. Family Characteristics: Age: Occupation: Please Circle One Marital Status: a. Single b. Married c. Living together d. Separated e. Divorced f. Widowed Spouse/Partner Information Age: Occupation:

#1. Boy _____ #2 Boy ____ #3 Boy ____ #4 Boy ____ #5 Boy ____

Girl _____ Girl ____ Girl ____ Girl ____

Years Together:

Gender and Age of Children:

T 1	. •	•	7	
Han	cation	- 1 - 4	AVA	۰
Luu	zauon			L.

>\$101K _____

a. Some College		
b. Associate's Degree		
c. College Graduate		
d. Some Graduate school		
e. Master's Degree		
f. Doctorate		
Spouse/Partner's Highest Level of Education:		
a. Some College		
b. Associate's Degree		
c. College Graduate		
d. Some Graduate School		
e. Master's Degree		
f. Doctorate		
Economic Status		
Your Income	Spouse/Partner's Income	
Less than \$25,000	Less than \$25,000	
\$25-50K	\$25-50K	
\$51-75K	\$51-75K	
\$76-100K	\$76-100K	

>\$101K _____

How many hours on average do you	ı work per	·week?					
Recent Life Events/Stressors (within	n the last 1	12 months) (Check all that a	apply.			
Death of a loved one							
Change in job status							
Change in marital relationshi	p						
Addition to family							
Change in housing status/loc	ation						
Change in child's status (acad	demics, gr	rades, new so	chool)				
Change in health status (self))						
Change in health status (love	d one)						
Other							
Have you recently been diagnosed (within the last 2 years) with depression;							
anxiety							
Have you previously been diagnose	d (greater	than 2 years) with depressi	ion;			
anxiety							
Health Status	Poor	Fair	Good	Excellent			
Your overall health							

Spouse/Partner's overall health

Children